

CONSULTATION PAPER

P023 - 2012

January 2013

Draft Corporate Governance Regulations and Guidelines for Insurers

MAS

Monetary Authority of Singapore

PREFACE

In February 2012, MAS conducted a consultation on the proposed policy positions in extending the Insurance (Corporate Governance) Regulations (“CG Regulations”) and the MAS Guidelines on Corporate Governance for Banks, Financial Holding Companies and Direct Insurers (“Guidelines”)¹ to all locally-incorporated insurers. In addition, MAS consulted on the introduction of a disqualification rule for the directors, executive officers and employees of insurers².

2 MAS’ responses to the feedback received were published in August 2012.

3 MAS is now seeking comments on the draft CG Regulations and the Guidelines as set out in Appendices A and B respectively. This consultation paper summarizes the key provisions in the draft CG Regulations. The Guidelines were last revised in 2010, and is being updated following revisions made to the Code for Corporate Governance in May 2012.

4 MAS invites interested parties to submit their views and comments on the draft CG regulations and Guidelines. Electronic submission is encouraged. Please submit your written comments by 4 February 2013 to:

Insurance Department
Monetary Authority of Singapore
10 Shenton Way
MAS Building
Singapore 079117

Fax: 6229 9694
Email: idcg2@mas.gov.sg

5 Please note that all submissions received may be made public unless confidentiality is specifically requested for the whole or part of the submission.

¹The Guidelines comprise the Code for Corporate Governance for companies listed on the Singapore Exchange and supplementary principles and guidelines added by the Authority (in *italics*) to take into account the unique characteristics of the business of banking and insurance, given the diverse and complex risks undertaken by these Financial Institutions and their responsibilities to depositors and policyholders.

² The disqualification rule will apply to directors and executives and will be provided for in the Insurance (Amendment) Bill 2012.

Preface	<i>i</i>
Table of Contents	<i>ii</i>
1. Application of CG Regulations	1
2. Tiering of Insurers	1
3. CG Regulations for Tier 1 Insurers	1
4. CG Regulations for Tier 2 Insurers	1
5. Approval of Directors and Board Chairman Appointments by MAS	2
6. Separation of Roles	2
7. Application of CG Guidelines	2
8. Implementation Timeline	3
9. Appendix A: Draft Regulations	5
10. Appendix B: Draft Guidelines	23

1 APPLICATION OF CG REGULATIONS

1.1 Regulation 2 of the draft CG Regulations states that the Regulations will be applicable to all the locally-incorporated direct insurers and reinsurers except for captive insurers and marine mutual insurers.

2 TIERING OF INSURERS

2.1 Locally-incorporated direct insurers and reinsurers will be categorized into two tiers, Tier 1 and Tier 2, based on the size of total assets or annual gross premiums and the requirements are calibrated to take into account the significance of an insurer's operations in Singapore. Regulation 4 of the draft CG Regulations introduces the definitions of Tier 1 and Tier 2 insurers.

3 CG REGULATIONS FOR TIER 1 INSURERS

3.1 All existing significant insurers will be classified as Tier 1 insurers. The draft CG Regulations will apply to all Tier 1 insurers.

4 CG REGULATIONS FOR TIER 2 INSURERS

Minimum Board Size

4.1 Regulation 8(1)(a) of the draft CG Regulations states that a Tier 2 insurer shall have a board of directors comprising at least three directors. This will apply to Tier 1 insurers as well.

Board Composition

4.2 Regulation 8(1)(c) of the draft CG Regulations provides that a Tier 2 insurer shall have a board of directors comprising at least one third of directors who are independent directors.

Board Committees

4.3 A Tier 2 insurer is not required to establish Board Committees (viz a Nominating Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a Risk Management Committee and an Audit Committee) nor meet any composition requirement of such Board Committees. MAS expects the main Board to be responsible for the functions of the respective Board Committees and this is set out in new Regulation 10A. Nevertheless, Tier 2 insurers would be encouraged to set up these Board Committees if they are able to do so.

5 APPROVAL OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD CHAIRMAN APPOINTMENTS BY MAS

5.1 The terms of appointment of directors and the Chairman are usually governed by the insurers' Articles of Association. Regulation 17(2B) of the draft CG Regulations will provide that the term of appointment of a director shall be for a term not exceeding 3 years. This means that insurers would have to seek MAS' approval to re-appoint an individual as a director at least once every 3 years.

5.2 The appointment of a Chairman will be compulsory as stated in the public consultation dated 8 Aug 2012 on the "Legislative Changes Relating to Requirements on Key Executive Persons and Directors for Insurers". A Tier 1 or Tier 2 insurer will therefore be required to seek MAS' approval for the appointment of the Chairman of the Board. Since the appointment as Chairman is tied to the office of director, this means that insurers have to also seek MAS' prior approval to re-appoint the individual as a Board Chairman. Existing appointments for Board Chairman will be grandfathered subject to the term of appointment of director not exceeding 3 years, however, the insurer will be required to seek MAS' prior approval for subsequent appointments of a new Board Chairman.

6 SEPARATION OF ROLES

6.1 Regulation 18(1) of the draft Regulations provides that an insurer shall not appoint an executive director or an immediate family member of the Principal Officer as the Chairman of the Board. This is to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and independent decision making.

7 APPLICATION OF CG GUIDELINES

7.1 The CG Guidelines complement the CG Regulations in providing additional guidance on governance practices in key areas. The Guidelines comprise the Code of Corporate Governance for companies listed on the Singapore Exchange ("Code") and supplementary principles and guidelines added by MAS to take into account the unique characteristics of the business of banking and insurance, given the diverse and complex risks undertaken by these financial institutions and their responsibilities to depositors and policyholders. Last revised in 2005, the Code was updated in May 2012 where the key changes included areas of director independence, board composition,

director training, multiple directorships, alternate directors, remuneration practices and risk management.

7.2 The Guidelines are currently applicable to all locally-incorporated direct insurers. These will be revised and extended to the locally-incorporated reinsurers, captive insurers and marine mutual insurers. Besides revisions to the Code in May 2012, the key changes to the Guidelines include the following:

- a) The Nominating Committee should ensure that there are adequate policies and procedures relating to the engagement, dismissal and succession of the senior management, and be actively involved in such processes;
- b) If the financial institution becomes aware of any material and bona fide information which may negatively affect the fitness and propriety of the financial institution's director, Chief Executive, deputy Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, head of the internal audit function or any relevant senior management staff, the financial institution should inform MAS immediately;
- c) The Remuneration Committee should seek inputs from the board risk committee and ensure that remuneration practices do not create incentives for excessive or inappropriate risk-taking behavior;
- d) The Board should regularly meet with senior management to discuss and review critically the decisions made, information provided and any explanations given by senior management relating to the business and operations of the financial institution;
- e) Additional responsibilities for the Board or Board Risk Committee, Chief Risk Officer and senior management in relation to risk management and internal controls ;
- f) Additional responsibilities for the Audit Committee;
- g) Additional responsibilities for the Internal Auditor; and
- h) Transactions with related parties and the write-off of related-party exposures exceeding specified amounts or otherwise posing special risks should be subject to prior approval by the Board. Board members with conflicts of interest should be excluded from the approval process of granting and managing related party transactions.

8 IMPLEMENTATION TIMELINE

8.1 The draft Regulations are targeted to be issued on 1 April 2013 and take effect on 1 May 2013, with the exception of those provisions relating to the appointment of new independent directors to meet board and board committee composition requirements. These latter provisions are targeted to take effect no later than from the first Annual General Meeting of each insurer held on or after 1 January 2016. The draft Guidelines are targeted to take effect by 1 April 2013.

Appendix A

INSURANCE (CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS 2005

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

INSURANCE ACT

(CHAPTER 142)

INSURANCE (CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS 2005

-
- 1 Citation and commencement
 - 2 Application of these Regulations
 - 3 Definitions
 - 4 ~~Significant insurer~~ [Tier 1 and Tier 2 insurers](#)
 - 5 Independence from management and business relationships
 - 6 Independence from substantial shareholder
 - 7 Determination by Nominating Committee
 - 8 Board of directors
 - 9 Executive Committee
 - 10 Committees of board of directors
 - 11 Nominating Committee
 - 12 Responsibilities of Nominating Committee
 - 13 Determination of independence of directors and assessment of qualification
 - 14 Furnishing information to Authority
 - 15 Remuneration Committee
 - 16 Audit Committee
 - 16A Risk Management Committee
 - 17 Approval of Authority
 - 18 Separation of roles
 - 19 Exceptions
 - 20
 - 21 [Savings and Transitional Provisions](#)
-

In exercise of the powers conferred by [section 31\(9\) and](#) section 64(1) of the Insurance Act, the Monetary Authority of Singapore hereby makes the following Regulations:

Citation and commencement

1. These Regulations may be cited as the Insurance (Corporate Governance) Regulations 2005 and shall come into operation on 8 September 2005.

Application of these Regulations

2. These Regulations shall apply to ~~significant insurers~~ [direct insurers and reinsurers incorporated in Singapore and shall not apply to captive insurers and marine mutual insurers](#).

Definitions

3.—(1) In these Regulations, unless the context otherwise requires —

"associate" , in relation to a substantial shareholder, means —

- (a) any corporation in which the substantial shareholder controls the composition of the board of directors;
- (b) any corporation in which the substantial shareholder controls more than half of the voting power;

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

(c) any corporation in which the substantial shareholder holds more than half of the issued share capital;

(d) any corporation which is a subsidiary of any other corporation which is an associate by virtue of paragraph (a), (b) or (c);

(e) any corporation in which the substantial shareholder or any other corporation which is an associate by virtue of paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) has, or the substantial shareholder and such other corporation together have, an interest in shares entitling the beneficial owners thereof the right to cast, whether by proxy or in person, not less than 20% but not more than 50% of the total votes able to be cast at a general meeting of the first-mentioned corporation; or

(f) any corporation (not being a corporation which is an associate by virtue of paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e)) the policies of which the substantial shareholder or any other corporation which is an associate by virtue of paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) is, or the substantial shareholder together with such other corporation are, able to control or influence materially;

"Audit Committee" means an Audit Committee referred to in regulation 16;

"board committee" means any of the committees specified in regulation 10 and the Executive Committee referred to in regulation 9;

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

"direct composite insurer" means a direct insurer registered to carry on life business and general business under the Act;

"direct general insurer" means a direct insurer registered to carry on general business under the Act;

"direct life insurer" means a direct insurer registered to carry on life business under the Act;

"executive director" means a director who is concurrently an executive officer and "non-executive director" shall be construed accordingly;

~~"executive officer", in relation to a company, means any person, by whatever name described, who—~~

~~(a) is in the direct employment of, or acting for or by arrangement with, the company; and~~

~~(b) is concerned with or takes part in the management of the company on a day-to-day basis;~~

"financial holding company" means a company belonging to a class of financial institutions approved as financial holding companies under section 28 of the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act (Cap. 186);

"financial year" has the same meaning as in section 4 (1) of the Companies Act (Cap. 50);

"immediate family" , in relation to an individual, means the individual's spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, parent, step-parent, brother, step-brother, sister or step-sister;

"immediate subsidiary" means a subsidiary as defined under section 5 (1) (a) of the Companies Act;

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

"independent director" , in relation to an ~~significant~~ insurer, means a director who —

- (a) is independent from any management and business relationship with the ~~significant~~ insurer;
- (b) is independent from any substantial shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer; and
- (c) has not served on the board of directors of the ~~significant~~ insurer for a continuous period of 9 years or longer;

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

"limited liability partnership" has the same meaning as in section 2 (1) of the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2005 (Act 5 of 2005);

"marine mutual insurer" has the same meaning as in the Insurance (General Provisions and Exemptions for Marine Mutual Insurers) Regulations 2007 (G.N. No. S 746/2007);

"Nominating Committee" means a Nominating Committee referred to in regulation 11;

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

"Remuneration Committee" means a Remuneration Committee referred to in regulation 15;

"Risk Management Committee" means a Risk Management Committee referred to in regulation 16A;

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

"subsidiary" has the same meaning as in section 5 of the Companies Act (Cap. 50);

"substantial shareholder" has the same meaning as in section 81 of the Companies Act.

(2) In these Regulations, in relation to a company which may dispense with the holding of annual general meetings under section 175A of the Companies Act —

- (a) a reference to the doing of anything at an annual general meeting shall, in the case of such a company, be read as a reference to the doing of that thing by way of a resolution by written means in accordance with the Companies Act; and
- (b) a reference to the date of an annual general meeting of such a company shall, unless the meeting is held, be read as a reference to the date of expiry of the period within which the meeting is required by law to be held.

Significant insurer Tier 1 and Tier 2 insurers

4.—(1) In these Regulations,

"~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer" means any registered insurer ~~direct life insurer~~ which —

- (a) is incorporated in Singapore;
- (b) in the case of a direct life insurer, has total assets of at least \$5 billion or its equivalent in any foreign currency, as reported in Form 8 in the First Schedule to the Insurance (Accounts and Statements) Regulations 2004 (G.N. No. S 494/2004), lodged by the insurer for the accounting period in the preceding year;
- (c) in the case of a direct general insurer or a reinsurer, has gross premiums of at least \$500 million or its equivalent in any foreign currency, in its insurance funds established and maintained under the Act and Overseas (Branch) Operations, as reported in Form 9 in the First Schedule to the Insurance (Accounts and Statements) Regulations 2004, lodged by the insurer for the accounting period in the preceding year; and

(d) in the case of a direct composite insurer falls within sub-paragraph (b) or (c) above.

"Tier 2 insurer" means any registered insurer which –

- (a) is incorporated in Singapore;
- (b) in the case of a direct life insurers, has total assets of less than \$5 billion or its equivalent in any foreign currency as reported in Form 8 in the First Schedule to the Insurance (Accounts and Statements) Regulations 2004, lodged by the insurer for the accounting period in the preceding year;
- (c) in the case of a direct general insurer or reinsurer, has gross premiums of less than \$500 million or its equivalent in any foreign currency in its insurance funds established and maintained under the Act and Overseas (Branch) Operations, as reported in Form 9 in the First Schedule to the Insurance (Accounts and Statements) Regulations 2004, lodged by the insurer for the accounting period in the preceding year; and

(d) in the case of a direct composite insurer falls within sub-paragraph (b) or (c) above.

~~(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1) (b), the total assets of a direct life insurer in its Singapore Insurance Fund and Offshore Insurance Fund shall be the total assets stated in Row 15 of Form 1 in the First Schedule to the Insurance (Accounts and Statements) Regulations 2004 (G.N. No. S 494/2004) lodged by the insurer for the accounting period in the preceding year.~~

~~(3) In this regulation, "Overseas (Branch) Operations" "Singapore Insurance Fund" and "Offshore Insurance Fund" have has the same meanings as in Part I of the First Schedule to the Insurance (Accounts and Statements) Regulations 2004.~~

Independence from management and business relationships

5.—(1) In these Regulations, subject to regulation 7, a director shall be considered to be independent from management and business relationships with an significant insurer if —

- (a) the director has no management relationship with the significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries; and
- (b) the director has no business relationship with the significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries, or with any officer of the significant insurer

that could interfere, or be reasonably regarded as interfering, with the exercise of the director's independent business judgment with regard to the interests of the significant insurer.

(2) Without prejudice to paragraph (1) (a), a director shall not be considered to be independent from management relationships with an significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries if —

- (a) he is employed by the significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries, or has been so employed at any time during the current financial year or any of the preceding 3 financial years of the significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries;
- (b) any member of his immediate family —
 - (i) is employed by the significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries as an executive officer whose compensation is determined by the Remuneration Committee or the board of directors of the significant insurer or any of its subsidiaries; or

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

(ii) has been so employed at any time during the current financial year or any of the preceding 3 financial years of the ~~significant~~ insurer or any of its subsidiaries; or

(c) he is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the management of the ~~significant~~ insurer or any of its subsidiaries.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(3) Without prejudice to paragraph (1) (b) but subject to regulation 7, a director shall not be considered to be independent from business relationships with the ~~significant~~ insurer or any of its subsidiaries if —

(a) he is a director, a substantial shareholder or an executive officer of any corporation, or a partner of a firm or a limited liability partnership or a sole proprietor, where such corporation, firm, limited liability partnership or sole proprietor carries on business for purposes of profit to which the ~~significant~~ insurer or any of its subsidiaries has made, or from which the ~~significant~~ insurer or any of its subsidiaries has received, payments in the current or immediately preceding financial year; or

(b) he is receiving or has received any compensation from the ~~significant~~ insurer or from any of the ~~significant~~ insurer's subsidiaries, other than compensation received for his services as a director or as an employee, at any time during the current or immediately preceding financial year of the ~~significant~~ insurer.

Independence from substantial shareholder

6.—(1) In these Regulations, subject to regulation 7, a director of an ~~significant~~ insurer shall be considered to be independent from a substantial shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer if he is not that substantial shareholder and is not connected to that substantial shareholder.

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), a director of an ~~significant~~ insurer which is —

(a) the immediate subsidiary of another insurer (referred to in this paragraph as the parent insurer); or

(b) the sole subsidiary of a financial holding company which does not carry on any business other than the holding of the ~~significant~~ insurer,

shall, if he is not a substantial shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer, the parent insurer or the financial holding company, as the case may be, and is not connected to —

(i) a substantial shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer (other than the parent insurer or financial holding company); or

(ii) a substantial shareholder of the parent insurer or financial holding company, as the case may be,

be treated as if he were independent from the substantial shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer for the purposes of regulations 8 (1), 9, 11 (1), 15 (1), 16(1) and 16A(1).

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (1), a person is connected to a substantial shareholder if he is —

(a) in the case where the substantial shareholder is an individual —

(i) a member of the immediate family of the substantial shareholder;

(ii) employed by an associate of the substantial shareholder;

(iii) a director of the substantial shareholder;

- (iv) an executive director of an associate of the substantial shareholder;
 - (v) a non-executive director of an associate of the substantial shareholder;
 - (vi) a partner of a firm or a limited liability partnership of which the substantial shareholder is also a partner; or
 - (vii) accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the substantial shareholder; or
- (b) in the case where the substantial shareholder is a corporation —
- (i) employed by the substantial shareholder;
 - (ii) employed by an associate of the substantial shareholder;
 - (iii) a director of the substantial shareholder;
 - (iv) an executive director of an associate of the substantial shareholder;
 - (v) a non-executive director of an associate of the substantial shareholder;
 - (vi) a partner of a firm or a limited liability partnership of which the substantial shareholder is also a partner; or
 - (vii) accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the substantial shareholder.

Determination by Nominating Committee

7.—(1) The Nominating Committee of a [significant Tier 1](#) -insurer may determine that a director of the [significant](#) insurer who is —

- (a) not considered independent from business relationships with the [significant](#) insurer under regulation 5 (3) (a) or (b); or
- (b) not considered independent from a substantial shareholder of the [significant](#) insurer because of the relationship specified in regulation 6 (3) (a) (v) or (b) (v),

shall nonetheless be considered independent from business relationships with the [significant](#) insurer, or independent from a substantial shareholder of the [significant](#) insurer, as the case may be, if the Nominating Committee [of a Tier 1 insurer](#) is satisfied that the director's independent business judgment and ability to act in the interests of the [significant](#) insurer will not be impeded, despite the relationships specified in that regulation.

(2) If —

- (a) at any time, the Authority is not satisfied that a director of the [significant](#) insurer is independent notwithstanding any determination of the Nominating Committee [of a Tier 1 insurer](#) made under paragraph (1); and
- (b) the lack of independence of that director would result in a failure by the [significant](#) insurer to comply with any of the requirements under regulation 8(1), 9, 11 (1), 15 (1), 16(1) or 16A(1),

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

the Authority shall direct the [significant](#) insurer to rectify the composition of the board of directors or any relevant committee in accordance with the requirements under regulation 8(1), 9, 11(1), 15(1), 16(1) or 16A(1), as the case may be, within such time, and subject to such conditions or restrictions, as the Authority may specify.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

(3) Where the Authority has given a direction to an ~~significant~~ insurer under paragraph (2), the requirements under regulation 8(1), 9, 11(1), 15(1), 16(1) or 16A(1), as the case may be, shall not apply to the ~~significant~~ insurer during the period between the time the Authority makes the direction and the time within which the ~~significant~~ insurer is required to rectify the composition of the board of directors or any relevant committee in accordance with the direction.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

Board of Directors

8.—(1) An insurer shall —

(a) have a board of directors comprising at least 3 directors;

(b) subject to paragraphs (2), (3) and (4) and regulations 7(3) and (19), where the insurer is a Tier 1 insurer, have a board of directors comprising at least a majority of directors who are independent directors; and

(c) subject to paragraphs (3) and (4) and regulations 7(3) and 19, where the insurer is a Tier 2 insurer, have a board of directors comprising at least one-third of directors who are independent directors.

~~(1) Subject to paragraphs (2), (3) and (4) and regulations 7(3) and 19, a significant insurer shall have a board of directors comprising at least a majority of directors who are independent directors.~~

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(2) Where a single substantial shareholder holds 50% or more of the share capital or the voting power in a ~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer, paragraph ~~(1)(b)~~ shall not apply to the ~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer only if the ~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer has a board of directors comprising —

(a) at least a majority of directors who are independent from management and business relationships with the ~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer; and

(b) at least one-third of directors who are independent directors.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(3) If a member of the board of directors resigns or ceases to be a member of the board of directors for any other reason, the ~~significant~~ insurer shall —

(a) notify the Authority of the event within 14 days after the occurrence of the event; and

S 753/2010, wef

09/12/2010 (b) on or before its next annual general meeting, appoint such number of new directors as may be required to rectify the composition of the board of directors in accordance with the requirements under paragraph (1)(b) or paragraph (1)(c).

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (3), the Authority may, upon being notified under paragraph (3) (a), direct the ~~significant~~ insurer to rectify the composition of the board of directors in accordance with the requirements under paragraph (1) within such time before the next annual general meeting of the ~~significant~~ insurer, subject to such conditions or restrictions as the Authority may specify, and the ~~significant~~ insurer shall comply with that direction.

(5) The board of directors shall maintain records of all its meetings.

(6) Any ~~significant~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

(6A) Any ~~significant~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (3)(a) shall be guilty of an

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(7) Any ~~significant~~ insurer which fails to comply with any condition or restriction imposed by the Authority under paragraph (4) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

Executive Committee

9. Where the board of directors of a ~~Tier 1 significant~~ insurer has delegated any of its powers for the oversight of the ~~Tier 1 significant~~ insurer to an executive committee or any other committee by whatever name described (referred to in these Regulations as an Executive Committee), consisting of such directors as the board of directors thinks fit, regulation 8, [save for 8\(1\)\(c\)](#), shall apply ~~with the necessary modifications~~, to the ~~Tier 1 significant~~ insurer in respect of the Executive Committee as if the Executive Committee were a board of directors.

Committees of board of directors

10.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), a ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer shall have —

- (a) a Nominating Committee;
- (b) a Remuneration Committee;
- (c) an Audit Committee; and
- (d) a Risk Management Committee.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(1A) A ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer shall ensure that every member of each Committee referred to in paragraph (1) shall have unfettered access to information which the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer is in possession of or has access to, for the purposes of carrying out the responsibilities of the Committee concerned.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(2) A ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer which is a subsidiary of any bank or any other insurer, whether or not licensed or registered in Singapore, need not have a Nominating Committee, a Remuneration Committee or a Risk Management Committee, subject to the following conditions:

- (a) the board of directors of the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer performs for the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer all the functions of the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee or the Risk Management Committee, as the case may be, set out in these Regulations; and

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

- (b) the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer informs the Authority in writing that the functions of the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee or the Risk Management Committee, as the case may be, are performed by its board of directors.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(3) Any ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) or (1A) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

[10A Regulations 7, 12, 13 15\(3\), 15\(3A\), 15\(4\), 16\(2\), 16\(3\), 16A\(2\) and 16A\(3\) shall apply to the board of directors of a Tier 2 insurer as though references to a Nominating Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a Audit Committee and a Risk Management Committee, all of a Tier 1 insurer, were references to a board of directors of a Tier 2 insurer.](#)

Nominating Committee

11.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (4) and regulations 7 (3) and 19, a ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer shall have a Nominating Committee comprising —

- (a) at least 3 members of the board of directors of the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer; and
- (b) at least a majority of directors (including the chairman of the Nominating

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

Committee) who are independent directors.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(c) Deleted by S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010.

(d) Deleted by S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010.

(2) Where a single substantial shareholder holds 50% or more of the share capital or the voting power in a ~~Tier 1~~[significant](#) insurer, paragraph (1)(b) shall not apply to the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer only if the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer has a Nominating Committee comprising —

(a) at least a majority of directors who are independent from management and business relationships with the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer; and

(b) at least one-third of directors (including the chairman of the Nominating Committee) who are independent directors.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(3) Every member of the Nominating Committee shall be appointed to hold office until the next annual general meeting following that member's appointment, and shall be eligible for re-appointment.

(4) If a member of the Nominating Committee resigns, ceases to be a director or for any other reason ceases to be a member of the Nominating Committee —

(a) the ~~significant Tier 1~~ insurer shall notify the Authority of the event within 14 days after the occurrence of the event; and

(b) if this results in a breach of any requirement under paragraph (1), the board of directors shall, within 3 months after that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required to rectify the composition of the Nominating Committee in accordance with that requirement.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

~~(4A) Where before 9th December 2010, a significant insurer has appointed, as the chairman of its Nominating Committee, any person who is not independent from any substantial shareholder of the significant insurer or who has served on the board of the significant insurer for a continuous period of 9 years or longer, the significant insurer shall not be prohibited from re-appointing that person as chairman of the Nominating Committee immediately upon the expiry of the earlier term of appointment.~~

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(5) Any ~~Tier 1~~[significant](#) insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

(6) Any ~~Tier 1~~[significant](#) insurer which contravenes paragraph (4)(a) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

Responsibilities of Nominating Committee

12.—(1) The Nominating Committee of ~~a Tier 1~~[a significant](#) insurer shall identify the candidates and review all nominations for the appointment of—

(a) each director;

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

- (b) each member of each board committee; [S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)
 (c) the ~~principal officer~~chief executive and deputy ~~principal officer~~chief executive;

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)
(ca) the appointed actuary and the certifying actuary;

(d) the chief financial officer; and [S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(e) the chief risk officer, [S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

of the ~~significant~~ insurer.

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), the Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer shall determine the criteria to be applied in identifying a candidate or reviewing a nomination for the purposes of these Regulations.

(3) The criteria to be applied in identifying a candidate or reviewing a nomination for the purposes of these Regulations shall include the following:

(a) the appointment of the candidate or nominee will not result in non-compliance with the requirements under regulations 8(1), 9, 11 (1), 15 (1), 16(1) and 16A(1); and

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(b) the candidate or nominee is a fit and proper person for the office and is qualified for the office, taking into account the candidate's or nominee's track record, age, experience, capabilities, skills and such other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(3A) The Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer shall review the reasons provided by each of the persons referred to in paragraph (1) for his resignation from his appointment in the ~~significant~~ insurer.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(4) The Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer shall maintain records of all its meetings.

Determination of independence of directors and assessment of qualification

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

13.—(1) Where a person is proposed to be appointed as a director, prior to his appointment, the Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer—

(a) shall determine —

(i) whether he is independent from management and business relationships with the ~~significant~~ insurer; and

(ii) whether he is independent from any substantial shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer,

using the criteria set out in regulation 5 or 6, as the case may be, and, where applicable, in accordance with regulation 7; and

(b) shall maintain a record of its determination.

(2) Prior to every annual general meeting of the ~~significant~~ insurer, the Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer—

(a) shall determine —

(i) whether each existing director is independent from management and business relationships with the ~~significant~~ insurer; and

(ii) whether each existing director is independent from any substantial

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

shareholder of the ~~significant~~ insurer,

using the criteria set out in regulation 5 or 6, as the case may be, and, where applicable, in accordance with regulation 7;

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(aa) shall review and assess whether each existing director remains qualified for the office using the criteria set out in regulation 12(3); and

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(b) shall maintain a record of its determination and its assessment, respectively.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

Furnishing information to Authority

14.—(1) An ~~significant~~ insurer shall, after the Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer or the board of directors of a Tier 2 insurer, as the case may be, has concluded its deliberations in respect of the matters under regulations 12 and 13 and in the case of a Tier 1 insurer, after the board of directors has concurred with the Nominating Committee—

(a) notify the Authority in writing of the particulars of the persons proposed to be appointed to the positions referred to in regulation 12 (1)(a) and (b), including whether the requirements for independence in regulations 5 and 6 are satisfied;

(aa) notify the Authority in writing of the review and assessment of each existing director referred to in regulation 13(2)(aa);

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(b) in the case where the Nominating Committee of a Tier 1 insurer has made a determination under regulation 7, provide the Authority with the Nominating Committee's explanation of its decision as to why the director should be considered independent; and

(c) furnish to the Authority such further information as the Authority may require.

(2) Any ~~significant~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

Remuneration Committee

15.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2), (5) and (6) and regulations 7 (3) and 19, a Tier 1 significant insurer shall have a Remuneration Committee comprising —

(a) at least 3 members of the board of directors of the ~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer; and

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(b) at least a majority of directors (including the chairman of the Remuneration Committee) who are independent directors.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(c) Deleted by S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010.

(d) Deleted by S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010.

(2) Where a single substantial shareholder holds 50% or more of the share capital or the voting power in a ~~significant-Tier 1~~ insurer, paragraph (1)(b) shall not apply to the ~~significant-Tier 1~~ insurer only if the ~~significant-Tier 1~~ insurer has a Remuneration Committee comprising —

(a) at least a majority of directors who are independent from management and business relationships with the ~~significant-Tier 1~~ insurer; and

(b) at least one-third of directors (including the chairman of the Remuneration Committee) who are independent directors.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(3) In addition to such other responsibilities as may be determined by the board of directors of the ~~significant-Tier 1~~ insurer, the Remuneration Committee of the ~~Tier 1-significant~~ insurer shall be responsible for —

(a) recommending a framework for determining the remuneration of the directors of the ~~significant~~ insurer;

(b) recommending a framework for determining the remuneration of the executive officers of the ~~significant~~ insurer which shall include the following elements and factors in the design and operation of the framework:

(i) the remuneration package of each executive officer of the ~~significant~~ insurer —

(A) shall be aligned to the specific job function undertaken by the executive officer and where the executive officer undertakes any of the ~~significant~~ insurer's control job functions, the remuneration package of that executive officer shall be determined independently of the business functions of the ~~significant~~ insurer;

(B) shall take into account input from the ~~significant~~ insurer's control job functions as may be relevant to the specific job function undertaken by the executive officer;

(C) shall be aligned with the risks that the ~~significant~~ insurer undertakes in its business that is relevant to the specific job function undertaken by the executive officer;

(D) shall be sensitive to the time horizon of risks that the ~~significant~~ insurer is exposed to which includes ensuring that variable compensation payments shall not be finalised over short periods of time when risks are realised over long periods of time;

(E) shall, in relation to the quantum of bonus payable to the executive officer, be linked to his personal performance, the performance of his specific job function as a whole and the overall performance of the ~~significant~~ insurer; and

(F) shall, in relation to the rationale for the mix of cash, equity and other forms of incentives, be justified; and

(ii) the size of the bonus pool of the ~~significant~~ insurer shall be linked to the overall performance of the ~~significant~~ insurer;

(c) recommending the remuneration of each director and executive officer of the ~~significant~~ insurer based on the frameworks referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b), respectively; and

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

(d) reviewing, at least once in each year, the remuneration practices of the ~~significant~~ insurer to ensure that they are aligned with the recommendations made in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c).

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(3A) In paragraph (3) —

"business functions" means the job functions in the ~~significant~~ insurer that conduct risk-taking activities in relation to the business of the ~~significant~~ insurer;

"control job functions" means the following job functions:

- (a) risk control and management;
- (b) finance;
- (c) compliance;
- (d) internal audit;
- (e) human resources;
- (f) actuarial; and
- (g) risk control related back office operations.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(4) The Remuneration Committee of a Tier 1 insurer shall maintain records of all its meetings.

(5) If a member of the Remuneration Committee of a Tier 1 insurer resigns, ceases to be a director or for any other reason ceases to be a member of the Remuneration Committee —

(a) the ~~significant~~ Tier 1 insurer shall notify the Authority of the event within 14 days after the occurrence of the event; and

(b) if this results in a breach of any requirement under paragraph (1), the board of directors shall, within 3 months after that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required to rectify the composition of the Remuneration Committee in accordance with that requirement.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

~~(6) — Where before 9th December 2010, a significant insurer has appointed, as the chairman of its Remuneration Committee, any person who is not an independent director, the significant insurer shall not be prohibited from re-appointing that person as chairman of the Remuneration Committee immediately upon the expiry of the earlier term of appointment.~~

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(7) Any Tier 1 ~~significant~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

(8) Any Tier 1 ~~significant~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (5)(a) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

Audit Committee

16.—(1) Subject to paragraph (4) and regulations 7 (3) and 19, a significant-Tier 1 insurer shall have an Audit Committee comprising —

(a) at least 3 members of the board of directors of the significant-Tier 1 insurer, all of whom are independent from management and business relationships with the significant-Tier 1 insurer; and

(b) at least a majority of directors (including the chairman of the Audit Committee) who are independent directors.

(2) The Audit Committee of a Tier 1 insurer, shall, in addition to such other responsibilities as may be determined by the board of directors or provided under written law, be responsible for the adequacy of the external and internal audit functions of the significant insurer, including reviewing the scope and results of audits carried out in respect of the operations of the significant insurer and the independence and objectivity of the significant insurer's external auditors.

(3) The Audit Committee of a Tier 1 insurer shall maintain records of all its meetings.

(4) If a member of the Audit Committee of a Tier 1 insurer resigns, ceases to be a director or for any other reason ceases to be a member of the Audit Committee —

(a) the significant-Tier 1 insurer shall notify the Authority of the event within 14 days after the occurrence of the event; and

(b) if this results in a breach of any requirement under paragraph (1), the board of directors shall, within 3 months after that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required to rectify the composition of the Audit Committee in accordance with that requirement.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

(5) Any significant-Tier 1 insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

(6) Any significant-Tier 1 insurer which contravenes paragraph (4)(a) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

[S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010](#)

Risk Management Committee

16A.—(1) Subject to paragraph (4) and regulations 7(3) and 19, a significant-Tier 1 insurer shall have a Risk Management Committee comprising —

(a) at least 3 members of the board of directors of the significant-Tier 1 insurer; and

(b) at least a majority of directors (including the chairman of the Risk Management Committee) who are non-executive directors.

(2) The Risk Management Committee of a Tier 1 insurer, shall, in addition to such other responsibilities as may be determined by the board of directors, be responsible for overseeing —

(a) the establishment and the operation of an independent risk management system for managing risks on an enterprise-wide basis; and

(b) the adequacy of the risk management function of the significant insurer, including ensuring that it is sufficiently resourced to monitor risk by the various risk categories and that it has appropriate independent reporting lines.

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

(3) The Risk Management Committee of a Tier 1 insurer, shall maintain records of all its meetings.

(4) If a member of the Risk Management Committee of a Tier 1 insurer resigns, ceases to be a director or for any other reason ceases to be a member of the Risk Management Committee —

(a) the significant-Tier 1 insurer shall notify the Authority of the event within 14 days after the occurrence of the event; and

(b) if this results in a breach of any requirement under paragraph (1), the board of directors shall, within 3 months after that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required to rectify the composition of the Risk Management Committee in accordance with that requirement.

(5) Any significant-Tier 1 insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

(6) Any significant-Tier 1 insurer which contravenes paragraph (4)(a) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

Approval of Authority

17.—(1) A significant-Tier 1 insurer shall obtain the prior approval of the Authority for the appointment of ~~the following persons:~~

~~(a) the chairman of the board of directors;~~

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

(b) the members of the Nominating Committee;

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

~~(c) the chief financial officer; and~~

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

~~the chief risk officer.~~

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

(2) Without prejudice to any other matter that the Authority may consider relevant, the Authority shall, in determining whether to grant its approval under paragraph (1), have regard to whether the person is a fit and proper person to hold the office.

(2B) Pursuant to S31(9) of the Act, the appointment of chairman and director shall be for a term not exceeding 3 years.

~~(2A) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(c) and (d), a significant insurer which has appointed any person as its chief financial officer or chief risk officer immediately before 9th December 2010 shall be deemed to have obtained the prior approval of the Authority for the respective appointments —~~

~~(a) for a period of 3 months from the date on which the significant insurer holds or is required by law to hold its annual general meeting for the year 2011; or~~

~~(b) if, before the expiry of the period referred to in sub-paragraph (a), the significant insurer applies for the approval of the Authority for the respective appointments, until the date on which the approval is given or the application for approval is refused,~~

~~whichever is later.~~

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

(3) Any significant-Tier 1 insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

Separation of roles

18.—(1) An ~~significant~~ insurer shall not appoint any of the following persons as the chairman of its board of directors:

- (a) any of its executive directors;
- (b) any person who is a member of the immediate family of the ~~principal officer~~^{chief executive} of the ~~significant~~ insurer.

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(2) Any ~~significant~~ insurer which contravenes paragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000 and, in the case of a continuing offence, to a further fine not exceeding \$2,500 for every day or part thereof during which the offence continues after conviction.

Exceptions

19.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3), the requirements under regulations ~~8(1)~~, ~~8(1)(b)~~, ~~8(1)(c)~~, 9, 11 (1), 15 (1), 16(1) and 16A(1) shall not apply in relation to a ~~significant~~ insurer —

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

(a) where —

- (i) there is a change in the status of a director under regulation 5 or 6 during the period between the date immediately after the date of the director's appointment and the date immediately before the next annual general meeting of the ~~significant~~ insurer; and
- (ii) the ~~significant~~ insurer could not reasonably have known of that change on or before the date of the director's appointment; or

(b) where —

- (i) there is a change in the status of a director under regulation 5 or 6 during the period between the date immediately after an annual general meeting of the ~~significant~~ insurer and the date immediately before the next annual general meeting of the ~~significant~~ insurer (other than the period referred to in sub-paragraph (a) (i)); and
- (ii) the ~~significant~~ insurer could not reasonably have known of that change on or before the date of the first-mentioned annual general meeting.

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not apply unless, in the circumstances prescribed in paragraph (1) (a) (i) or (b) (i), the ~~significant~~ insurer, within 14 days after becoming aware of the change in the status of a director, notifies the Authority of the change and, subject to paragraph (3) —

S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010

- (a) in respect of any requirement under regulation ~~8(1)(b) or 8(1)(c)~~ ~~(1)~~, at the next annual general meeting, appoints such number of new directors as may be required to rectify the composition of the board of directors in accordance with that requirement; or
- (b) in respect of any requirement under regulation 9, 11 (1), 15 (1), 16(1) or 16A(1), within 3 months after notifying the Authority of the change of status of the director, appoints such number of new members of the relevant committee as may be required to rectify the composition of the relevant committee in accordance with

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

that requirement.

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), the Authority may, upon being notified of a change in the status of a director under paragraph (2), direct the ~~significant~~ insurer —

(a) to appoint such number of new directors as may be necessary to rectify the composition of the board of directors in accordance with the requirements under regulation 8(1)(b) or 8(1)(c) ~~(1)~~, within such time before the next annual general meeting of the ~~significant~~ insurer and subject to such conditions or restrictions as the Authority may specify; or

(b) to appoint such number of new members of the relevant committee as may be necessary to rectify the composition of the relevant committee in accordance with the requirements under regulation 9, 11 (1), 15 (1), 16(1) or 16A(1), as the case may be, within such time before the expiration of 3 months after the date the ~~significant~~ insurer notifies the Authority of the change and subject to such conditions or restrictions as the Authority may specify,

[*S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010*](#)

and the ~~significant~~ insurer shall comply with that direction.

(4) Any ~~significant~~ insurer which fails to comply with any condition or restriction imposed by the Authority under paragraph (3) shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on conviction to a fine not exceeding \$25,000.

20. Deleted by S 753/2010, wef 09/12/2010.

Savings and Transitional Provisions

21.(1) These Regulations (other than regulations 8(1)(b), 8(1)(c), 9, 11(1), 15(1), 16(1) and 16A(1)) shall not apply to an insurer which is not a Tier 1 or Tier 2 insurer immediately before 1 April 2013 for the period from that date to 1 May 2013.

(2) Regulations 8(1b), 8(1c), 9, 11(1), 15(1), 16(1) or 16A(1) shall not apply to an insurer which is not a Tier 1 insurer or Tier 2 insurer immediately before 1 April 2013, for the period from that date to the date on which the first annual general meeting of the insurer is held in 2016.

Made this 5th day of September 2005.

HENG SWEE KEAT
Managing Director,
Monetary Authority of Singapore.

DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Regulations is in draft form and subject to change. It is also subject to review by the Attorney-General's Chambers.

Appendix B

**GUIDELINES ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FOR
FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANIES, BANKS, DIRECT
INSURERS, REINSURERS AND CAPTIVE INSURERS WHICH
ARE INCORPORATED IN SINGAPORE**

**DISCLAIMER: This version of amendments to the Guidelines is in draft form and
subject to change.**

THE MONETARY AUTHORITY OF SINGAPORE

Issue date: ~~9-1 December-April 2010~~2013

GUIDELINES ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FOR ~~BANKS,~~ FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANIES ~~AND,~~ BANKS, DIRECT INSURERS, REINSURERS AND CAPTIVE INSURERS WHICH ARE INCORPORATED IN SINGAPORE

1 The Guidelines on Corporate Governance (“The Guidelines”) are relevant to all ~~banks,~~ financial holding companies ~~and,~~ banks, direct insurers, reinsurers and captive insurers (“the insurers”), which are incorporated in Singapore (“Financial Institutions”). They provide guidance on best practices that ~~a bank, financial holding company or direct insurer~~ Financial Institutions should strive to achieve in relation to ~~its-their~~ corporate governance.

2 The Guidelines should be read in conjunction with the provisions of the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or the Insurance Act (Cap. 142) as the case may be, the relevant Corporate Governance Regulations issued pursuant to either of the Acts as well as written directions, codes and other guidelines that the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“the Authority”) may issue from time to time.

3 The Guidelines at Annex 1 comprise the Code of Corporate Governance ~~2005~~2012^{3 a} (“Code”) for companies listed on the Singapore Exchange and supplementary principles and guidelines added by the Authority (in italics) to take into account the unique characteristics of the business of banking and insurance, given the diverse and complex risks undertaken by these Financial Institutions and their responsibilities to depositors and policyholders.

4 The Authority expects every Financial Institution to observe the Guidelines at Annex 1 to the fullest extent possible. Financial Institutions listed on the Singapore Exchange should disclose their corporate governance practices and explain deviations

^{3a} The Code was first issued by the Corporate Governance Committee on 21 March 2001 and revised by the Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance on 14 July 2005. The Code came under the purview of the Authority and SGX with effect from 1 September 2007. In February 2010, the Corporate Governance Council (“Council”) was established to promote high standard of corporate governance among listed companies in Singapore. The Council conducted a comprehensive review of the Code, and submitted its recommendations to the Authority on 22 November 2011. The Authority accepted the recommendations made by the Council and issued the revised Code of Corporate Governance on 2 May 2012. It can be found at http://www.mas.gov.sg/fin_development/corporate_governance/code_of_corporate_governance.html

from the Guidelines in their ~~annual~~Annual reports~~Reports~~. ~~These~~ Financial Institutions that are not listed on the Singapore Exchange should disclose the same on their websites. For ease of reference, the specific principles and guidelines in the Code for disclosure are set out in Annex 2.

Rationale for a Corporate Governance Framework for Financial Institutions

5 In an increasingly complex business environment influenced by globalisation and other rapid changes in the financial scene, good corporate governance is crucial to ensure that the business of a Financial Institution is managed in a safe and sound manner. Weak governance can undermine public confidence in a Financial Institution as well as the financial system and markets in which it operates.

6 In Singapore, directors of a company are required to promote the success of the company in the interests of its shareholders as a group. Corporate governance for Financial Institutions is arguably of greater importance than for other companies given their crucial financial intermediation roles in an economy and the need to safeguard depositors' and policyholders' funds.

Risk-based Supervision and Corporate Governance

7 The Authority recognises that the Board plays a critical role in the successful operation of a Financial Institution. The Board is chiefly responsible for setting corporate strategy, reviewing managerial performance and maximising returns for shareholders at an acceptable level of risk, while preventing conflicts of interest and balancing competing demands on the Financial Institution. Therefore, the effectiveness of the Board of a Financial Institution is a basic tenet of ~~MAS'~~the Authority's risk-based supervisory approach. While the Board may delegate to ~~the~~m~~Management~~ the responsibility for formulating sound and prudent policies and practices, it remains accountable and cannot abrogate its overall responsibility for the Financial Institution. This does not mean however that the Board should assume the role of the management. ~~The m~~Management is accountable to the Board for the day-to-day conduct of the business and affairs of the Financial Institution.

ANNEX 1**BOARD MATTERS**

THE BOARD'S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

Principle:

- 1 Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this objective and ~~the~~ Management remains accountable to the Board.

Guidelines:

- 1.1 The Board's role is to:
 - (a) provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic ~~aims-objectives~~, and ensure that the necessary financial and human resources are in place for the company to meet its objectives;
 - (b) establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables ~~risk-risks~~ to be assessed and managed, including safeguarding of shareholders' interests and the company's assets;
 - (c) review management performance; ~~and~~
 - (d) identify the key stakeholder groups and recognise that their perceptions affect the company's reputation;
 - (e) set the company's values and standards (including ethical standards), and ensure that obligations to shareholders and ~~others-other stakeholders~~ are understood and met-; and
 - (f) consider sustainability issues, e.g. environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation.
- 1.2 All directors must objectively ~~take decisions-discharge their duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries~~ in the interests of the company.
- 1.3 ~~IfThe Board may delegate the~~ authority to make decisions ~~on-certain-board matters-is delegated by the Board to any Board Committee, to any board~~

committee but without abdicating its responsibility. Any such delegation should be disclosed.

- 1.4 The Board should meet regularly and as warranted by particular circumstances, as deemed appropriate by the board members. Companies are encouraged to amend their Articles of Association (or other constitutive documents) to provide for telephonic and ~~videoconference~~ video-conference meetings. The number of ~~board-meetings of the Board~~ and board ~~committee-meetings~~ committees held in the year, as well as the attendance of every board member at these meetings, should be disclosed in the company's ~~annual-report~~ Annual Report.
- 1.5 ~~Companies~~ Every company should ~~adopt internal~~ prepare a document with guidelines setting forth:

- (a) the matters reserved for the Board's decision; and
- (b) clear directions to Management on matters that ~~require board approval, and specify in their corporate governance disclosures the type must be~~ approved by the Board.

The types of material transactions that require board approval under such guidelines should be disclosed in the company's Annual Report.

- 1.6 ~~Every director~~ Incoming directors should receive ~~-comprehensive and tailored induction on joining the Board. This should include his~~ duties as a director and how to discharge those duties) ~~when he is first appointed to the Board. This should include, and~~ an orientation program to ensure that ~~incoming directors~~ they are familiar with the company's business and governance practices. The company should provide training for first-time directors¹ in areas such as accounting, legal and industry-specific knowledge as appropriate.

It is equally important that all directors should receive ~~further relevant regular~~ training, particularly on relevant new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks, from time to time.

The company should be responsible for arranging and funding the training of directors. The Board should also disclose in the company's Annual Report the induction, orientation and training provided to new and existing directors.

¹ A first time director is a director who has no prior experience as a director of a listed company.

- 1.7 Upon appointment of each director, ~~companies~~the company should provide a formal letter to the director, setting out the director's duties and obligations.

Commentary:

- ~~1.8 The company is encouraged to provide training for first time directors in areas such as accounting, legal and industry-specific knowledge.~~

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

- 1.98 The Board should discuss and approve the organisational structure of the Financial Institution. This would include ensuring that adequate corporate governance frameworks and systems are in place across the Financial Institution. In the case of a Group, the Board of the ultimate holding company should refrain from setting up complex structures given the inherent risks of such structures. In the case of a Board of a subsidiary, it is responsible for the corporate governance of the subsidiary and it should ensure that any reliance placed on group-level corporate governance practices are in accordance with the local regulatory requirements.
- 1.9 Where the Board delegates its authority to a board committee as described in Guideline 1.3, the Board should establish communication procedures between the Board and board committees, and also across board committees. This should include requiring board committees to report to the Board on a regular basis.
- 1.10 The Board should also be responsible for the appointment and removal of senior management of the Financial Institution. The Board should set out clearly the roles, responsibilities, accountability and reporting relationships of senior management and key persons in control job functions^{1b}, and have these properly documented. The delegation of authority from the Board to the senior management should be formal and clear.
- 1.11 As corporate values set by the Board are aimed at promoting and maintaining a high level of professional conduct of the business, these values should emphasise, among others, integrity, honesty and proper conduct at all times, both with respect to internal dealings and external transactions, including situations where there are potential conflicts of interest. Such values should discourage excessive risk taking activities, promote open discussions and encourage issues to be raised upwards within the organisation where appropriate. The Board should oversee the establishment of policies to strengthen the values of the Financial Institution.

^{1b} “Control job functions” includes risk control and management, finance, compliance, internal audit, human resources, actuarial and other risk control related operations.

- 1.12 The Board should ensure that senior management formulates policies and processes to promote fair practices and high standards of business conduct by staff. Such policies should address any misrepresentation, in particular, making of false and misleading statements and misconduct by the staff. ~~In particular, for~~ an insurer, such policies should also apply to its distribution channels and its claims adjudication.
- 1.13 There should be clear complaint handling procedures in place to ensure that all complaints are dealt with professionally, fairly, promptly and diligently. These complaint handling procedures should be clearly communicated to customers.
- 1.14 The Board should maintain records of all its meetings, in particular records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.
- 1.15 In addition to the types of training referred to in Guideline 1.6, the Board should develop a continuous professional development programme for all directors to ensure that they are equipped with the appropriate skills and knowledge to perform their roles on the Board and ~~Board-board Committees committees~~ effectively. Such programmes may include providing the directors with a detailed overview and risk profile of the Financial Institution's significant or new business lines and an update on regulatory developments in jurisdictions which the Financial Institution has a presence in. The Board may develop separate programmes for executive directors, ~~and~~ non-executive directors, first-time directors and new directors.
- 1.16 In its disclosure of the induction, orientation and training provided to new and existing directors as referred to in Guideline 1.6, the Financial Institution should ~~disclose~~ include an assessment of how these programmes meet the requirements as set out by type of continuous professional development programme established for its directors and how the programme incorporates the types of skills which the Nominating Committee to equip assesses that the Board and the respective Board-board Committees committees with relevant knowledge and skills should have in order to perform their roles effectively.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle:

- 2 There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10% shareholders². No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board's decision making.

Guidelines:

- 2.1 There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, with independent directors making up at least one-third of the Board.

2.2 The independent directors should make up at least half of the Board where:

~~(b)~~(a) the Chairman of the Board (the "Chairman") and the chief executive officer (or equivalent) (the "CEO") is the same person;

~~(c)~~(b) the Chairman and the CEO are immediate family³ members;

~~(d)~~(c) the Chairman is part of the management team; or

~~(e)~~(d) the Chairman is not an independent director.

- 2.3 An "independent" director is one who has no relationship with the company, its related companies⁴ corporations⁴, its 10% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director's independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the company. ~~Examples of such relationships, which would deem a director not to be independent, include~~ The Board should identify in the company's Annual

² The term "10% shareholder" refers to a person who has an interest or interests in one or more voting shares in the company and the total votes attached to that share, or those shares, is not less than 10% of the total votes attached to all the voting shares in the company. "Voting shares" exclude treasury shares.

³ The term "immediate family" has the same meaning as currently defined in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange (the "Listing Manual"), i.e. the person's spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent.

⁴ ~~A related company in relation to a company includes its subsidiary, fellow subsidiary, or parent company.~~

⁴ The term "related corporation", in relation to the company, has the same meaning as currently defined in the Companies Act, i.e. a corporation that is the company's holding company, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary.

Report each director it considers to be independent. The Board should determine, taking into account the views of the Nominating Committee ("NC"), whether the director is independent in character and judgement and whether there are relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the director's judgement. Directors should disclose to the Board any such relationship as and when it arises. The Board should state its reasons if it determines that a director is independent notwithstanding the existence of relationships or circumstances which may appear relevant to its determination, including the following:

- (a) a director being employed by the company or any of its related companies corporations for the current or any of the past three financial years;
 - (b) a director who has an immediate family member² who is, or has been in any of the past three financial years, employed by the company or any of its related companies as a senior executive officer corporations and whose remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee;
 - (c) a director, or an immediate family member, accepting any significant compensation from the company or any of its subsidiaries other than compensation for board service-related corporations for the provision of services, for the current or immediate past financial year, other than compensation for board service; or
 - (d) a director, ~~or an:~~
 - (i) who, in the current or immediate past financial year, is or was; or
 - (ii) whose immediate family member, being in the current or immediate past financial year, is or was,
- a 10% substantial shareholder of, or a partner in (with 10% 5% or more stake), or an executive officer of, or a director of, any ~~for-profit business~~ organisation to which the company or any of its subsidiaries made, or from which the company or any of its subsidiaries received, significant payments or material services (which may include auditing, banking, consulting and legal services), in the current or immediate past financial

² ~~As defined in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange to mean the spouse, child, adopted child, stepchild, brother, sister and parent.~~

year. As a guide, payments³⁵ aggregated over any financial year in excess of S\$200,000 should generally be deemed significant;

(e) a director who is a 10% shareholder or an immediate family member of a 10% shareholder of the company; or

(f) a director who is or has been directly associated with⁶ a 10% shareholder of the company, in the current or immediate past financial year.

2.2 The relationships set out above are not intended to be exhaustive, and are examples of situations which would deem a director to be not independent. If the ~~company~~ Board wishes, in spite of the existence of one or more of these relationships, to consider the director as independent, it should disclose in full the nature of the director's relationship and bear responsibility for explaining why he should be considered independent.

2.4 The independence of any director who has served on the Board beyond nine years from the date of his first appointment should be subject to particularly rigorous review. In doing so, the Board should also take into account the need for progressive refreshing of the Board. The Board should also explain why any such director should be considered independent.

2.32.5 The Board should examine its size and, with a view to determining the impact of the number upon effectiveness, decide on what it considers an appropriate size for the Board, which facilitates effective decision making. The Board should take into account the scope and nature of the operations of the company, the requirements of the business and the need to avoid undue disruptions from changes to the composition of the Board and board committees. The Board should not be so large as to be unwieldy.

2.42.6 The Board and its board committees should comprise directors who as a group provide an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience, gender and knowledge of the company. They should also provide core competencies such as accounting or finance, business or management experience, industry

³⁵ Payments for transactions involving standard services with published rates or routine and retail transactions and relationships (for instance credit card or bank or brokerage or mortgage or insurance accounts or transactions) will not be taken into account, unless special or favourable treatment is accorded.

⁶ A director will be considered "directly associated" with a 10% shareholder when the director is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the 10% shareholder in relation to the corporate affairs of the corporation. A director will not be considered "directly associated" with a 10% shareholder by reason only of his or her appointment having been proposed by that 10% shareholder.

knowledge, strategic planning experience and ~~customer-based~~ customer-based experience or knowledge.

2.52.7 Non-executive directors should:

- (a) constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy; and
- (b) review the performance of ~~management~~ Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance.

Commentary:

2.62.8 To facilitate a more effective check on ~~management~~ Management, non-executive directors are encouraged to meet regularly without ~~management~~ present the presence of Management.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

2.79 *As stated in Guideline 2.4, ~~the~~ the length of service on the Board should also be taken into consideration when assessing a directors' independence on the Board. The Nominating Committee should assess annually, regardless of whether the director is close to his ninth year of service, whether the length of service of a director has affected his/her independence. Long-serving directors, in particular those who have served under the same Chairman or CEO, may have certain entrenched interests that impair their ability to act independently.*

Principle:

~~16.2.10~~ The Board may establish a Board Executive Committee (EXCO) to assist in the discharge of its duties:

Guidelines:

~~16.1~~ *A Financial Institution may have an Executive Committee (EXCO) of the Board, and to deliberate on matters requiring Board review that arise between full Board meetings. With regard to the representation of independent directors, the composition of the EXCO should mirror that recommended for the Board in ~~these~~ Guidelines 2.1 and 2.2.*

~~16.2.11~~ *The Board should ensure that the roles and responsibilities of the EXCO ~~is~~ are clearly defined. An EXCO ~~should have written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members.~~ It should not have the authority to exercise all of the powers of the Board. The role of the EXCO is to carry out Board functions and not to take on the functions of senior management. ~~In~~*

~~carrying out its duties, the EXCO should not lose its capacity, as part of the Board, to exercise oversight over senior management and objectively evaluate the performance of senior management.~~

~~16.32.12~~ The EXCO should maintain records of all its meetings, in particular records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.

~~16.42.13~~ If an EXCO is established, the Board ~~A Financial Institution~~ should disclose in the Financial Institution's annual Annual report Report the names of the members of the EXCO and the key terms of reference of the EXCO, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board ~~and details of the activities of the EXCO.~~

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle:

- 3 There should be a clear division of responsibilities at between the top of the company the working leadership of the Board and the executive responsibility of executives responsible for managing the company's business which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no. No one individual represents should represent a considerable concentration of power.

Guidelines:

- 3.1 The Chairman and chief executive officer ("the CEO") should in principle be separate persons, to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO should be clearly established, set out in writing and agreed by the Board. In addition, companies the Board should disclose the relationship between the Chairman and the CEO where if they are related to each other (i.e. be of the same immediate family, as defined in footnote 2) members.
- 3.2 The Chairman should:
- (a) lead the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda;
 - (b) set the agenda and ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues;
 - (c) promote a culture of openness and debate at the Board;
 - (d) ensure that the directors receive accurate, complete, adequate and timely and clear information;
 - (ee) ensure effective communication with shareholders;
 - (ef) encourage constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and Management;
 - (eg) facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive directors in particular; and

~~—(f)—encourage constructive relations between executive directors and non-executive directors; and~~

(gh) promote high standards of corporate governance.

The responsibilities set out above provide guidance and should not be taken as a comprehensive list of all the duties and responsibilities of a Chairman.

Commentary:

3.3 ~~Companies may~~ Every company should appoint an independent ~~non-executive~~ director to be the lead independent director where:

(a) the Chairman and the CEO is the same person, ~~where;~~

(b) the Chairman and the CEO are ~~related by close family ties, or where~~ immediate family members;

(c) the Chairman ~~and the CEO are both~~ is part of the ~~executive~~ management team; or

(d) the Chairman is not an independent director.

The lead independent director (if appointed) should be available to shareholders where they have concerns and for which contact through the normal channels of the Chairman, ~~CEO or Finance Director~~ the CEO or the chief financial officer (or equivalent) (the "CFO") has failed to resolve or ~~for which such~~ contact is inappropriate.

3.4 Led by the lead independent director, the independent directors should meet periodically without the presence of the other directors, and the lead independent director should provide feedback to the Chairman after such meetings.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

3.4 ~~In deciding whether there is a need to appoint a lead independent director to the Board, the Financial Institution should also consider if the Chairman has any other relationship with the Financial Institution, such as the relationships referred to in Guideline 2.1, or the independence (or lack thereof) of the Chairman from any of the substantial shareholders of the Financial Institution.~~

3.5 Where a lead independent director is appointed, the roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the lead independent director should be clearly defined.

~~3.6 If appointed, the lead independent director should provide some form of independent leadership on the Board, and act as a sounding board for the Chairman. The lead independent director should, amongst others, lead the independent directors during Board meetings to raise relevant queries and ensure that there is a check and balance between the Board and senior management. The lead independent director should also meet regularly with the other independent directors to assess the performance of the Chairman and senior management.~~

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle:

- 4 There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of ~~new~~ directors to the Board.

Guidelines:

- 4.1 ~~Companies~~ The Board should establish a NC Nominating Committee ("NC") to make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments, with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority and duties. The NC should comprise at least three directors, a the majority of whom, including the NC Chairman, should be independent. ~~In addition, the NC Chairman should be a director who is not, or who is not directly associated with⁴, a substantial shareholder (with interest of 5% or more in the voting shares of The lead independent director, if any, should be a member of the NC. The Board should disclose in the company's). Its membership should be disclosed in the Annual Report annual report. The NC should have written the names of the members of the NC and the key terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members of the NC, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.~~
- 4.2 The NC should ~~be charged with the responsibility of re-nomination having regard to the director's~~ make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to:
- (a) the review of board succession plans for directors, in particular, the Chairman and for the CEO;
 - (b) the development of a process for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its board committees and directors;
 - (c) the review of training and professional development programs for the Board; and
 - (d) the appointment and re-appointment of directors (including alternate directors, if applicable).

4 ~~A director will be considered "directly associated" to a substantial shareholder when the director is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the substantial shareholder.~~

Important issues to be considered as part of the process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors include composition and progressive renewal of the Board and each director's competencies, commitment, contribution and performance (e.g. attendance, preparedness, participation and candour) including, if applicable, as an independent director. All directors should be required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election-appointment at regular intervals and at least once every three years.

- 4.3 The NC is charged with the responsibility of determining annually, and as and when circumstances require, if a director is independent, bearing in mind the circumstances set forth in Guideline 2.1 Guidelines 2.3 and 2.4 and any other salient factors. If the NC determines-considers that a director who has one or more of the relationships mentioned therein can be considered independent, the company should make such disclosure as stated in Guideline 2.2.it should provide its views to the Board for the Board's consideration. Conversely, the NC has the discretion to determine-consider that a director is nonindependent not independent even if he does not fall under the circumstances set forth in Guideline 2.1-2.3 or Guideline 2.4, and should similarly provide its views to the Board for the Board's consideration.
- 4.4 When a director has multiple board representations, he ~~or she~~ must ensure that sufficient time and attention is given to the affairs of each company. The NC should decide if a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/~~her~~ duties as a director of the company. Internal guidelines, taking into consideration the director's number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments⁷. Guidelines should be adopted that address the competing time commitments that are faced when directors serve on multiple boards. The Board should determine the maximum number of listed company board representations which any director may hold, and disclose this in the company's Annual Report.
- 4.5 Boards should generally avoid approving the appointment of alternate directors. Alternate directors should only be appointed for limited periods in exceptional cases such as when a director has a medical emergency. If an alternate director is appointed, the alternate director should be familiar with the company affairs, and be appropriately qualified. If a person is proposed to be appointed as an alternate director to an independent director, the NC and the Board should

⁷ The term "**principal commitments**" includes all commitments which involve significant time commitment such as full-time occupation, consultancy work, committee work, non-listed company board representations and directorships and involvement in non-profit organisations. Where a director sits on the boards of non-active related corporations, those appointments should not normally be considered principal commitments.

review and conclude that the person would similarly qualify as an independent director, before his appointment as an alternate director. Alternate directors bear all the duties and responsibilities of a director.

4.6 A description of the process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of ~~new~~ directors to the Board should be disclosed in the company's Annual Report. This should include disclosure on the search and nomination process.

4.64.7 Key information regarding directors, such as academic and professional qualifications, shareholding in the company and its subsidiaries—related corporations, board committees served on (as a member or Chairman chairman), date of first appointment as a director, date of last re-election appointment as a director, directorships or chairmanships both present and those held over the preceding three years in other listed companies, and other ~~major appointments—principal commitments~~, should be disclosed in the company's annual report—Annual Report. In addition, the company's annual disclosure on corporate governance should indicate which directors are executive, non-executive or considered by the NC to be independent. The names of the directors submitted for election—appointment or re-election appointment should also be accompanied by ~~such~~ details and information to enable shareholders to make informed decisions. Such information, which should also accompany the relevant resolution, would include:

- (a) any relationships including immediate family relationships between the candidate and the directors, the company or its 10% shareholders;
- (b) a separate list of all current directorships in other listed companies; and
- (c) details of other principal commitments.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

4.78 *In reviewing nominations, the NC should satisfy itself that each nominee is a fit and proper person, and is qualified for the office taking into account the nominee's track record, age, experience, capabilities, skills and such other relevant factors as may be determined by the NC. In addition, the NC should review, on an annual basis, that each existing director remains qualified for the office based on these criteria.*

4.89 *The NC should maintain records of all its meetings, in particular records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.*

~~4.9 The Board should carry out succession planning for itself and the CEO to ensure continuity of leadership.~~

- 4.10 When setting the internal guidelines referred to in Guideline 4.4, the NC should include guidance on the number of Board memberships that each director may hold taking into consideration the competing time commitment faced when directors serve on multiple Boards. In establishing the guidance on assessing the time commitment of a director, the NC should also consider ~~not only the size of the companies, but also~~ factors such as the complexity of the companies' operations, and risk management systems and controls. ~~Other relevant factors that should be considered include whether the companies fall within the same group, whether the other directorships are on Boards of listed companies and, the frequency of Board meetings held, as well as the director's job commitments.~~
- 4.11 The NC should be charged with the responsibility of developing a framework to identify the skills that the Board collectively needs in order to discharge the Board's responsibilities effectively, taking into account the complexity of the Financial Institution's existing risk profile, business operations and future business strategy.
- 4.12 The NC should assess, at least on an annual basis, if the Board and the respective ~~Board-board Committees-committees~~ lack any skills to perform their roles effectively and identify steps to improve the effectiveness of the Board and the respective ~~Board-board Committeescommittees~~.
- 4.13 The NC should review the nominations, and reasons for resignations, of key appointment holders such as directors, ~~chief executive officer~~CEO, deputy ~~chief executive officer~~CEO, ~~chief financial officer~~CFO, chief risk officer (CRO), head of the internal audit function and relevant senior management staff. In addition, it should ensure that there are adequate policies and procedures relating to the engagement, dismissal and succession of the senior management, and be actively involved in such processes.
- 4.14 If the Financial Institution becomes aware of any material and bona fide information which may negatively affect the fitness and propriety of the Financial Institution's director, CEO, deputy CEO, CFO, CRO, head of the internal audit function or any relevant senior management staff, the Financial Institution should inform the Authority immediately.
- 4.1415 The NC should include in its annual assessment a check as to whether there is any deviation from the internal guidelines referred to in Guidelines 4.4 and 4.10 and disclose such deviation (and the explanation for the deviation) in the Financial Institution's ~~annual~~Annual ~~report~~Report.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle:

- 5 There should be a formal [annual](#) assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole [and its board committees](#) and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

Guidelines:

- 5.1 Every Board should implement a process to be carried out by the NC for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and [its board committees](#) [and](#) for assessing the contribution by [the Chairman and](#) each individual director to the effectiveness of the Board. [The Board should state in the company's Annual Report how the assessment of the Board, its board committees and each director has been conducted. If an external facilitator has been used, the Board should disclose in the company's Annual Report whether the external facilitator has any other connection with the company or any of its directors.](#) This assessment process should be disclosed in the [company's Annual Report](#) ~~annual report~~.
- 5.2 The NC should decide how the Board's performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria. Such performance criteria, which allow for comparison with industry peers, should be approved by the Board and address how the Board has enhanced long ~~term~~ [shareholders'](#) [shareholder](#) value. These performance criteria should not be changed from year to year, and where circumstances deem it necessary for any of the criteria to be changed, the onus should be on the Board to justify this decision.
- 5.3 ~~In addition to any relevant performance criteria which the Board may propose, the performance evaluation should also consider the company's share price performance over a five-year period vis-a-vis the Singapore Straits Times Index and a benchmark index of its industry peers.~~ 5.4 Individual evaluation should aim to assess whether each director continues to contribute effectively and demonstrate commitment to the role (including commitment of time for [board and committee](#) meetings [of the Board and board committees](#), and any other duties). The Chairman should act on the results of the performance evaluation, and, [in consultation with the NC, propose](#), where appropriate, ~~propose~~ new members [to](#) be appointed to the Board or seek the resignation of directors, ~~in consultation with the NC.~~

Commentary:

~~5.5 Other performance criteria that may be used include return on assets ("ROA"), return on equity ("ROE"), return on investment ("ROI") and economic value added ("EVA") over a longer term period.~~

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

- 5.64 The performance criteria proposed by the NC should include ~~other qualitative measures such as setting of strategic directions and achievement of strategic objectives, the~~ quality of risk management and adequacy of internal controls. ~~Performance criteria should, and~~ reflect the responsibility of the Board to safeguard the interests of the depositors and policyholders. ~~If necessary, Financial Institutions should consider engaging qualified external persons to facilitate such Board evaluations.~~
- 5.57 When the NC is deliberating upon the performance of a particular member of the NC, that member should recuse himself/herself from the discussions to avoid conflict of interests.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Principle:

- 6 In order to fulfil their responsibilities, ~~Board members~~ directors should be provided with complete, adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

Guidelines:

- 6.1 Management has an obligation to supply the Board with complete, adequate information in a timely manner. Relying purely on what is volunteered by Management is unlikely to be enough in all circumstances and further enquiries may be required if the particular director is to fulfil his ~~or her~~ duties properly. Hence, the Board should have separate and independent access to ~~the company's senior management~~ Management. Directors are entitled to request from Management and should be provided with such additional information as needed to make informed decisions. Management should provide the same in a timely manner.
- 6.2 Information provided should include board papers and related materials, background or explanatory information relating to matters to be brought before the Board, and copies of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and monthly internal financial statements. In respect of budgets, any material variance between the projections and actual results should also be disclosed and explained.
- 6.3 Directors should have separate and independent access to the company secretary. The role of the company secretary should be clearly defined and should include responsibility for ensuring that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Under the direction of the Chairman, the company secretary's responsibilities include ensuring good information flows within the Board and its board committees and between ~~senior management~~ Management and non-executive directors, advising the Board on all governance matters, as well as facilitating orientation and assisting with professional development as required. The company secretary should attend all board meetings.
- 6.4 The appointment and the removal of the company secretary should be a matter for the Board as a whole.

- 6.5 The Board should have a procedure for directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, and at the company's expense.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

~~6.6 Management should provide the Board with information on all potentially material risks facing the business (e.g., credit, market, liquidity, legal and operational risks).~~

~~6.7 Members of Board Committees should also have unfettered access to information in the Financial Institution for the purposes of carrying out the responsibilities of the Board Committee concerned.~~

No Additional Guidelines from the Authority

REMUNERATION MATTERS

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle:

- 7 There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Guidelines:

- 7.1 The Board should ~~set up~~ establish a Remuneration Committee ("RC") ~~comprising entirely of non-executive with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority and duties. The RC should comprise at least three directors, the majority of whom, including the RC Chairman, should be independent. All of the members of the RC should be non-executive directors. This is to minimise the risk of any potential conflict of interest. The Board should disclose in the company's Annual Report the names of the members of the RC and the key terms of reference of the RC, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.~~
- 7.2 The RC ~~will~~ should review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration, ~~and for the Board and key management personnel⁸. The RC should also review and recommend to the Board the specific remuneration packages for each director and the CEO (or executive of equivalent rank) if the CEO is not a director as well as for the key management personnel.~~ The RC's recommendations should be submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. The RC should cover all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to director's fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share-based incentives and awards, and benefits in kind. ~~The RC will also review the remuneration of senior management.~~

Commentaries:

- 7.3 If necessary, the RC should seek expert advice inside and/or outside the company on remuneration of all directors. The RC should ensure that existing relationships, if any, between the company and its appointed remuneration consultants will not affect the independence and objectivity of the remuneration

⁸ The term "**key management personnel**" means the CEO and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company.

consultants. The company should also disclose the names and firms of the remuneration consultants in the annual remuneration report, and include a statement on whether the remuneration consultants have any such relationships with the company.

- 7.4 The RC should review the company's obligations arising in the event of termination of the executive directors' and key management personnel's contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous. The RC should aim to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

- 7.54 *The Board should seek to ensure that the remuneration policies are in line with the strategic objectives and corporate values of the Financial Institution, and do not give rise to conflicts between the objectives of the Financial Institution and the interests of individual directors and ~~key executives~~ senior management.*
- 7.6 The RC should seek inputs from the board risk committee^{8a} and ensure that remuneration practices do not create incentives for excessive or inappropriate risk-taking behaviour.
- 7.75 *The RC should maintain records of all its meetings, in particular records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.*
- 7.86 *In addition to the remuneration matters specified in Principles 7 to 9 of these Guidelines, the RC should ensure that the Financial Institution adopts the Principles for Sound Compensation Practices and Implementation Standards issued by Financial Stability Board. For ease of reference, the specific principles and standards issued by the Financial Stability Board are attached at Annex 3.*

^{8a} The establishment of the board risk committee and its roles and responsibilities are specified in Guidelines 11.4, 11.8, 11.12 and 11.13.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle:

- 8 The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors needed to run to provide good stewardship of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully ~~but manage the company. However,~~ companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

Guidelines:

- 8.1 ~~A significant~~ and appropriate proportion of executive directors' and key management personnel's remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. ~~The~~ Such performance-related ~~elements of~~ remuneration should be ~~designed to align~~ aligned with the interests of executive directors with those of shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual performance ~~shareholders and promote the long-term success of the company. It should take account of the risk policies of the company, be symmetric with risk outcomes and be sensitive to the time horizon of risks.~~ There should be appropriate and meaningful measures for the purpose of assessing executive directors' and key management personnel's performance.
- 8.2 ~~The remuneration of non-executive directors should be appropriate to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of the directors. Non-executive directors should not be over-compensated to the extent that their independence may be compromised.~~
- 8.3 ~~In the case of service contracts, there should be a fixed appointment period for all executive directors. In any case, service contracts should not be excessively long or with onerous removal clauses. The RC should review what compensation commitments the directors' contracts of service, if any, would entail in the event of early termination. The RC should aim to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance.~~ 8.4 Long-term incentive schemes are generally encouraged for executive directors and key management personnel. The RC should review whether executive directors and key management personnel should be eligible for benefits under long-term incentive schemes. The costs and benefits of long-term incentive schemes should be carefully evaluated. In normal circumstances, offers of shares or granting grants of options or other forms of deferred remuneration should vest over a period of time. The use of vesting schedules, whereby only a portion of the benefits can be exercised each

year, is also strongly encouraged. Directors Executive directors and key management personnel should be encouraged to hold their shares beyond the vesting period, subject to the need to finance any ~~costs of acquisition~~ cost of acquiring the shares and associated tax liability.

Commentaries:

~~8.5 In setting remuneration packages, the company should be aware of pay and employment conditions within the industry and in comparable companies. But they should use such comparison with caution, in view of the risk of an upward ratchet of remuneration levels with no corresponding improvements in performance.~~

8.3 The remuneration of non-executive directors should be appropriate to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of the directors. Non-executive directors should not be over-compensated to the extent that their independence may be compromised. The RC should also consider implementing schemes to encourage non-executive directors to hold shares in the company so as to better align the interests of such non-executive directors with the interests of shareholders.

~~8.6 Notice periods in service contracts should be set at a period of six months or less. If it is necessary to offer longer notice periods to new directors recruited from outside, such periods should reduce to six months or less after the initial notice period.~~
8.4 Companies are encouraged to consider the use of contractual provisions to allow the company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration from executive directors and key management personnel in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the company.

No Additional Guidelines from the Authority

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle:

- 9 ~~Each~~ Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration ~~policy~~ policies, level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company's ~~annual report~~ Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key ~~executives~~ management personnel, and performance.

Guidelines:

- 9.1 The company should report to the shareholders each year on the remuneration of directors, the CEO and at least the top ~~5~~ five key ~~executives~~ management personnel (who are not also directors or the CEO) of the company. This annual remuneration report should form part of, or be annexed to the company's annual report of its directors. It should be the main ~~vehicle~~ means through which the company reports to shareholders on remuneration matters.

~~The members of the RC should be listed in the report~~ annual remuneration report should include the aggregate amount of any termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to directors, the CEO and the top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO).

- 9.2 The ~~report~~ company should ~~set out the names of directors and at least the top 5~~ fully disclose the remuneration of each individual director and the CEO on a named basis. For administrative convenience, the company may round off the disclosed figures to the nearest thousand dollars. There should be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each director's and the CEO's remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, stock options granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives.

- 9.3 The company should name and disclose the remuneration of at least the top five key ~~executives~~ management personnel (who are not ~~also~~ also directors) ~~earning remuneration which falls within or the CEO~~ in bands of S\$250,000. Companies need only show the applicable bands. There ~~will~~ should be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each ~~director~~ key management personnel's remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, ~~and~~ and stock options

granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives. ~~Companies are however encouraged, as~~

In addition, the company should disclose in aggregate the total remuneration paid to the top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO).

As best practice, companies are also encouraged to fully disclose the remuneration of ~~each individual director the said top five key management personnel~~.

~~9.39.4~~ For transparency, the annual remuneration report should disclose the ~~same~~ details of the remuneration of employees who are immediate family members⁵ of a director or the CEO, and whose remuneration ~~exceed~~ exceeds ~~S\$150,000~~ S\$50,000 during the year. This ~~can~~ will be done on a ~~no name named~~ basis with clear indication of ~~which the employee's relationship with the relevant~~ director or the CEO ~~the employee is related to~~. Disclosure of remuneration should be in incremental bands of S\$50,000. The company need only show the applicable bands.

~~9.4~~ 9.5 The annual remuneration report should also contain details of employee share schemes to enable their shareholders to assess the benefits and potential cost to the companies. The important terms of the share schemes should be disclosed, including the potential size of grants, methodology of valuing stock options, exercise price of options that were granted as well as outstanding, whether the exercise price was at the market or otherwise on the date of grant, market price on the date of exercise, the vesting schedule, and the justifications for the terms adopted, ~~should be disclosed.~~

9.6 For greater transparency, companies should disclose more information on the link between remuneration paid to the executive directors and key management personnel, and performance. The annual remuneration report should set out a description of performance conditions to which entitlement to short-term and long-term incentive schemes are subject, an explanation on why such performance conditions were chosen, and a statement of whether such performance conditions are met.

No Additional Guidelines from the Authority

~~5 As defined in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange to mean the spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent.~~

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle:

- 10 The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company's performance, position and prospects.

Guidelines:

- 10.1 The Board's responsibility to provide a balanced and understandable assessment of the company's performance, position and prospects extends to interim and other price sensitive public reports, and reports to regulators (if required).
- 10.2 The [Board should take adequate steps to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, including requirements under the listing rules of the securities exchange, for instance, by establishing written policies where appropriate.](#)
- 10.3 Management should provide all members of the Board with management accounts ~~which present a balanced and understandable and such explanation and information on a monthly basis and as the Board may require from time to time to enable the Board to make a balanced and informed~~ assessment of the company's performance, position and prospects ~~on a monthly basis~~.

~~[No Additional Guidelines from the Authority](#)~~

[Additional Guidelines of the Authority](#)

- 10.4 [The Board should regularly meet with senior management to discuss and review critically the decisions made, information provided and any explanations given by senior management relating to the business and operations of the Financial Institution.](#)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle:

11 The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders' interests and the company's assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

Guidelines:

11.1 The Board should determine the company's levels of risk tolerance and risk policies, and oversee Management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

11.2 The Board should, at least annually, review the adequacy and effectiveness of the company's risk management and internal control systems, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls. Such review can be carried out internally or with the assistance of any competent third parties.

11.3 The Board should comment on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management systems, in the company's Annual Report. The Board's commentary should include information needed by stakeholders to make an informed assessment of the company's internal control and risk management systems.

The Board should also comment in the company's Annual Report on whether it has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO:

(a) that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company's operations and finances; and

(b) regarding the effectiveness of the company's risk management and internal control systems.

11.4 The Board may establish a separate board risk committee or otherwise assess appropriate means to assist it in carrying out its responsibility of overseeing the company's risk management framework and policies.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

Principle:

~~17 The Board should ensure that the Financial Institution has a robust risk management system to identify, measure, monitor, control and report its risks.~~

Guidelines:

~~17.1—11.5~~ An effective Board should have a sound understanding of the business strategy, nature of the business activities of the Financial Institution and their associated risks. It should ensure that Management senior management has established an adequate risk management system to identify, measure, monitor, control and report those risks. The risk management system should be supported by a system of sound internal controls. If necessary, the Board should seek advice from within the Financial Institution or externally to enable it to discharge its functions properly.

~~17.2~~11.6 For the purposes of managing the risks of the Financial Institution, the responsibilities of the Board include, but are not limited to:

~~(a)~~ setting the tone from the top, and inculcating an appropriate risk culture throughout the firm;

~~(b)~~ overseeing the establishment and operation of an independent risk management system for identifying, measuring, monitoring, controlling and reporting risks on an enterprise-wide basis. In this respect, the Board should require senior management to highlight any limitations and constraints of the risk management system should be clearly identified and any uncertainties attached to risk measurement. These information should be incorporated when reporting and managing the risks of the Financial Institution. The appropriateness of Risks relating to the Financial Institution's remuneration and incentive structure should also be included in the risk assessment process.

~~(a)(c)~~ approving the risk appetite framework, which should be comprehensive and actionable, and linked with the Financial Institution's business strategy and strategic decision-making and integrated with associated internal processes such as capital planning, funding and liquidity management planning, budgeting, human resource planning, assessing mergers and acquisitions, new products and pricing approval, stress testing, underwriting, claims management, reinsurance, asset-liability matching, investment and recovery and resolution planning.

~~(b)(d)~~ ensuring that senior management has established the adequacy of risk management practices for material risks, such as credit, market,

underwriting, liquidity, country and transfer risk, interest rate risk, legal, compliance, fraud, reputational, regulatory and operational risks, on a regular basis.

~~(e)~~(e) reviewing the current risk profile, risk tolerance level and risk strategy of the Financial Institution.

~~(d)~~(f) ensuring that it obtains a periodic independent assessment of the design and effectiveness of the Financial Institution's risk governance framework on a regular basis.

~~(e)~~(g) ensuring that the risk management function has adequate resources and is staffed by an appropriate number of experienced and qualified employees who are sufficiently independent to perform their duties objectively. The risk management function should have appropriate reporting lines that are, independent of business lines.

~~(f)~~(h) maintaining records of all its meetings, in particular records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.

17.311.7 Depending on the scale, nature and complexity of its business, the Board may appoint a ~~chief risk officer~~ (“CRO”) to oversee the risk management function. The CRO should have a ~~direct~~-reporting line to the Board^{8b} and have the right to seek information and explanations from senior management. The CRO and risk management function should have access to consolidated information and relevant affiliates and subsidiaries. The Board-approved mandate of the risk management function should provide for the participation of the CRO in key decision-making processes and clarity as to their expected role, such as the processes for capital planning, new product and pricing approval, stress testing, recovery and resolution planning, mergers and acquisitions, underwriting, claims management, reinsurance, asset-liability matching, Own Risk Solvency Assessment, investment strategy, material outsourcing, strategic planning, and funding and liquidity management planning.

11.8 The Board should approve the appointment, remuneration, resignation or dismissal of the CRO. The board or the board risk committee should have influence over the performance assessment and succession planning of the CRO. The role of the CRO should be distinct from other executive functions and business line responsibilities, and there ~~generally~~ should be no “double hatting”. The Board should disclose the resignation or dismissal of the CRO should be disclosed publicly in the Financial Institution's Annual Report. The Financial Institution should discuss the reasons for the removal or resignation

^{8b} While the CRO should have a reporting line to the Board or board risk committee, this does not preclude him from having another reporting line to another top management staff such as the CEO.

of the CRO with the Authority. ~~These guidelines should apply to any officer who fulfils the role of a CRO regardless of the title assigned to the role.~~

~~17.4~~11.9 The CRO should manage the risk management systems and put in place processes to identify, measure, monitor, control and report risks. The CRO is further responsible for facilitating senior management's understanding of the various types of risks and the corresponding inter-relationships as well as engaging senior management to develop risk controls and risk mitigation procedures for the operations functions.

11.10 Guidelines 11.7 to 11.9 should apply to any officer who fulfils the role of a CRO regardless of the title assigned to the role.

11.11 Senior management should provide the Board with information on all potentially material risks facing the business (e.g., credit, market, underwriting, liquidity, country and transfer risk, interest rate risk, legal, compliance, fraud, reputational, regulatory and operational risks). In relation to credit risk, the information to be provided should include the condition of the Financial Institution's asset portfolio, such as concentration, classification of assets, major problem assets, and the level of provisions and reserves, as relevant. The Board should satisfy themselves that the information they receive is comprehensive, accurate, complete and timely to enable effective decision-making on the firm's strategy, risk profile and emerging risks.

~~17.5~~11.12 ~~If the Board may establishes a dedicated Board-board Risk-risk Management Committee ("RMC") to assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities in relation to risk management as specified in Guideline 17.2~~11.4, The the RMC-board risk committee should comprise at least 3 directors, the majority of whom, including the Chairman of the board risk committee, should be a majority are non-executive directors. The Board should ensure that the members of the RMC-board risk committee are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities. At least 2 members should have the relevant technical financial sophistication in risk disciplines or business experience, as the Board interprets such qualification in its judgment.

11.13 Where a RMC-board risk committee has been established by the Board, the Board may delegate certain responsibilities for the governance of risk to the RMC-board risk committee. the authority to appoint a CRO and In such a case, the roles and responsibilities of the Board and the board risk committee should be clearly defined and the board risk committee should review and report to the Board at least annually on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Financial Institution's risk management policies and systems. the reference to "the Board" in Guideline 17.3 shall include a reference to "the RMC".

~~17.6~~11.14 A Financial Institution should disclose in its ~~annual~~Annual reportReport the names of the members of the

(a) ~~the composition of the Board Risk Management Committee~~ board risk committee ~~as stated in Guideline 17.511.9, and details of the Committee's activities; and~~ and the key terms of reference of the board risk committee, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.

(b) ~~comments by the Board and, where established, the RMC as stated in Guideline 17.5, on the adequacy of the risk management processes of the Financial Institution.~~

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle:

~~11.12~~ The Board should establish an Audit Committee ("AC") with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority and duties⁹.

Guidelines:

~~11.12.1~~ The AC should comprise at least three directors, ~~all non-executive~~, the majority of whom, including the AC Chairman, should be independent. All of the members of the AC should be non-executive directors. The Board should disclose in the company's Annual Report the names of the members of the AC and the key terms of reference of the AC, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.

~~11.212.2~~ The Board should ensure that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities. At least two members, including the AC Chairman, should have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience, as the Board interprets such qualification in its business judgement.

~~11.312.3~~ The AC should have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, full access to and co-operation by Management and full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly.

~~11.412.4~~ The duties of the AC should include:

- ~~(a) — reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. Where the auditors also supply a substantial volume of non-audit services to the company, the AC should keep the nature and extent of such services under review, seeking to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money;~~
- ~~— (b) — reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the company and~~

⁹ The Board may wish to refer to the sample terms of reference contained in the Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore issued by the Audit Committee Guidance Committee which was established on 15 January 2008 by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority and Singapore Exchange Limited to develop practical guidance for audit committees of listed companies.

~~any formal announcements relating to the company's financial performance;~~

- ~~(c) reviewing the adequacy~~(a) reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the company and any announcements relating to the company's financial performance;
- (b) reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the company's internal controls, as set out in Guideline 12.1;
- ~~(d) including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls (such review can be carried out internally or with the assistance of any competent third parties);~~
- (c) reviewing the effectiveness of the company's internal audit function; and
- ~~(e) making recommendations to the Board~~
- (d) reviewing the scope and results of the external audit, and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors; and
- (e) making recommendations to the Board on the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

~~11.5 The AC should meet with the external auditors, and with the internal auditors, without the presence of the company's Management, at least annually.~~

~~11.6 The AC should review the independence of the external auditors annually.~~
~~11.7 The AC should review auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors.~~

12.5 The AC should meet (a) with the external auditors, and (b) with the internal auditors, in each case without the presence of Management, at least annually.

12.6 The AC should review the independence of the external auditors annually and should state (a) the aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors for that financial year, and (b) a breakdown of the fees paid in total for audit and non-audit services respectively, or an appropriate negative statement, in the

company's Annual Report. Where the external auditors also supply a substantial volume of non-audit services to the company, the AC should keep the nature and extent of such services under review, seeking to maintain objectivity.

12.7 The AC should review the policy and arrangements by which staff of the company and any other persons may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The AC's objective should be to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters such concerns to be raised and independently investigated, and for appropriate follow-up action to be taken. The existence of a whistle-blowing policy should be disclosed in the company's Annual Report, and procedures for raising such concerns should be publicly disclosed as appropriate.

11.812.8 The Board should disclose the names a summary of the members of all the AC and details of the Committee's activities in the company's Annual Report annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle:12 The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders' investments and the company's assets. The Board should also disclose in the company's Annual Report measures taken by the AC members to keep abreast of changes to accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements.

Guidelines:

12.1 The AC should review the adequacy of the company's internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems established by the Management (collectively "internal controls"). The AC should ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the company's internal controls is conducted at least annually. Such review can be carried out by the internal and/or public accountants, provided that where the public accountant is also the external auditor of the company, the AC should satisfy itself that the independence of the public accountant is not compromised by any other material relationship with the company.

~~12.2 The Board should comment on the adequacy of the internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management systems in the company's annual report.~~

12.9 A former partner or director of the company's existing auditing firm or auditing corporation should not act as a member of the company's AC: (a) within a period of 12 months commencing on the date of his ceasing to be a partner of the auditing firm or director of the auditing corporation; and in any case (b) for as long as he has any financial interest in the auditing firm or auditing corporation.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

~~11.9 The AC should be responsible for reviewing the accounting policies and practices of the Financial Institution.~~

~~11.10~~ 12.10 The AC should maintain records of all its meetings, in particular records of discussions on key deliberations and decisions taken.

12.11 The AC should ensure that financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting policies and practices that are internationally accepted.

12.12 The AC should have a robust process to discharge its responsibility in recommending for approval the appointment, reappointment, removal and remuneration of the external auditor. The AC should determine appropriate criteria for selecting the external auditor and should have policies and procedures to regularly monitor and assess the knowledge, competence, independence and effectiveness of the external auditor.

12.13 The AC should ensure that the external auditor has unrestricted access to information and persons within the financial institution as necessary to conduct the audit. The AC should also understand the external auditor's approach to reviewing the adequacy of internal controls relevant to the audit.

12.14 The AC should require that the external auditors promptly communicate to the AC any information regarding internal control weaknesses or deficiencies. The AC should ensure that significant findings and observations regarding weaknesses are promptly rectified and that this is supported by a formal process for reviewing and monitoring the implementation of recommendations by the external auditor.

12.15 The AC should establish a formal policy and structured process which governs its assessment of the independence of external auditors. This should involve a consideration of all relationships between the Financial Institution and the audit firm (including the provision of non-audit services) which could adversely affect the auditor's actual or perceived independence and objectivity, length of tenure and any safeguards established by the external auditor.

12.16 In addition to Guideline 12.7, the Audit Committee should ensure that the Financial Institution has in place internal policies, procedures, and/or processes to facilitate employees reporting concerns and issues within the Financial Institution. For sensitive information, the Financial Institution should establish an internal "whistle blowing" policy that offers employees anonymity and other protection from negative consequences.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Principle:

- 13 The company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and independent of the activities it audits.

Guidelines:

- 13.1 The Internal Auditor's primary line of reporting should be to the AC Chairman ~~of the AC~~ although the Internal Auditor would also report administratively to the CEO. ~~13.2 The AC approves the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the head of the internal audit function, or the accounting / auditing firm or corporation to which the internal audit function is outsourced. The Internal Auditor should meet or exceed the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised professional bodies including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors have unfettered access to all the company's documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the AC.~~
- ~~13.3~~13.2 The AC should ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the company. For the avoidance of doubt, the internal audit function can ~~either~~ be in-house, outsourced to a reputable accounting/auditing firm or corporation, or performed by a major shareholder, holding ~~company, parent~~ company or controlling enterprise with an internal audit staff.
- 13.3 The internal audit function should be staffed with persons with the relevant qualifications and experience.
- 13.4 The Internal Auditor should carry out its function according to the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised professional bodies including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.
- 13.5 The AC should, at least annually, ensure review the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function.

Additional Guidelines of the Authority

13.56 The scope of the Internal Auditor's responsibility should be clear and appropriate for the risks which the Financial Institution is or could be exposed to, including those risks arising from proposed new lines of business or products.

13.67 The Internal Auditor's responsibilities should include the following:

- (a) evaluating the reliability, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management processes of the Financial Institution. In this regard, the Internal Auditor should assess if business and risk management units are operating according to the risk appetite framework, and provide feedback on how the Financial Institution's risk appetite framework compares to best practices. The Internal Auditor should provide input to risk assessments and feedback on internal controls during the design and implementation processes. The Internal Auditor's overall opinion of internal controls relating to the risk governance framework should be provided to the AC or the Board annually.
- (b) reviewing the internal controls of the Financial Institution to ensure prompt and accurate recording of transactions and proper safeguarding of assets.
- (c) reviewing whether the Financial Institution complies with laws and regulations and adheres to established policies, and whether Management–senior management is taking the appropriate steps to address control deficiencies.
- (d) conducting regular assessments of the internal audit function and audit systems and incorporating needed improvements.

13.8 In carrying out its responsibilities, the Internal Auditor should ensure all material areas of risk and obligation of the Financial Institution are subject to appropriate audit or review over a reasonable period of time. These areas may include those dealing with:

- (a) credit, market, underwriting, liquidity, country and transfer risk, interest rate risk, legal, compliance, fraud, reputational, regulatory and operational risks;
- (b) accounting and financial policies and whether the associated records are complete and accurate;
- (c) intra-group transactions, including intra-group risk transfer and internal pricing;

- (d) the reliability and timeliness of escalation processes and reporting systems, including whether there are confidential means for employees to report concerns or violations and whether these are properly communicated, offer the reporting employee adequate protection from retaliation, and result in appropriate follow up; and
- (e) the extent to which any non-compliance with internal policies or external legal or regulatory obligations is documented and appropriate corrective or disciplinary measures are taken including in respect of individual employees involved.

13.9 A Financial Institution may engage third parties to provide independent assessments of its risk management systems and internal control framework as described in Guideline 13.7 (a), but the use of third parties does not relinquish the Board or senior management from ultimate responsibility for ensuring the reliability of the independent assessment. A Financial Institution should not become overly reliant on third parties to provide expertise that should be developed within its internal audit function.

13.710 In addition to having~~The Internal Auditor should have~~ unfettered access to the AC, the Board, and the senior management where necessary, the Internal Auditor should have~~as well as~~ the right to seek information and explanations.

13.11 The Internal Auditor, in its reporting to the AC, should include, at the minimum:

- (a) the annual or other periodic audit plan, detailing the proposed areas of audit focus;
- (b) any factors that may be adversely affecting the internal audit function's independence, objectivity or effectiveness; and
- (c) material findings from audits or reviews conducted.

13.812~~The AC should ensure that~~ the internal audit function has~~there are~~ adequate processes in place for ensuring that recommendations raised in internal audit reports are dealt with in a timely manner. Outstanding exceptions or recommendations should be closely monitored by the internal audit function and reported to the AC.

13.13 The budget of the internal audit function should be approved by the AC or the Board.

13.914~~The AC should approve the appointment, remuneration, resignation or dismissal of the head of internal audit.~~ The Board should also disclose the resignation or dismissal of the head of the internal audit function in the Financial Institution's ~~its~~ Annual ~~Report.~~

13.15 In addition to Guideline 13.4, Financial Institutions should adopt relevant best practices set out by other international standard setters, such as the principles in “The internal audit function in banks” issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in June 2012.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Principle:

14 Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholders' rights, and continually review and update such governance arrangements.

Guidelines:

14.1 Companies should facilitate the exercise of ownership rights by all shareholders. In particular, shareholders have the right to be sufficiently informed of changes in the company or its business which would be likely to materially affect the price or value of the company's shares.

14.2 Companies should ensure that shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings of shareholders. Shareholders should be informed of the rules, including voting procedures, that govern general meetings of shareholders.

14.3 Companies should allow corporations which provide nominee or custodial services to appoint more than two proxies so that shareholders who hold shares through such corporations can attend and participate in general meetings as proxies.

| No Additional Guidelines from the Authority

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle:

~~14.15~~ Companies should actively engage ~~in their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to promote~~ regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

Guidelines:

~~14.15.1~~ Companies should devise an effective investor relations policy to regularly convey pertinent information, ~~gather views or inputs, and address to~~ shareholders' ~~concerns~~. In disclosing information, companies should be as descriptive, detailed and forthcoming as possible, and avoid boilerplate disclosures.

~~14.215.2~~ Companies should disclose information on a timely basis through SGXNET and other information channels, including a well-maintained and updated corporate website. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a ~~selected-select~~ group, companies should make the same disclosure publicly to all others as ~~soon as practicable~~ promptly as possible. ~~This could be through the use of modern technology such as Internet websites.~~

~~15.3~~ The Board should establish and maintain regular dialogue with shareholders, to gather views or inputs, and address shareholders' concerns.

~~15.4~~ The Board should state in the company's Annual Report the steps it has taken to solicit and understand the views of the shareholders e.g. through analyst briefings, investor roadshows or Investors' Day briefings.

~~15.5~~ Companies are encouraged to have a policy on payment of dividends and should communicate it to shareholders. Where dividends are not paid, companies should disclose their reasons.

No Additional Guidelines from the Authority

CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS

Principle:

~~15.16~~ Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs general meetings of shareholders, and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Guidelines:

~~15.16.1~~ Shareholders should have the opportunity to participate effectively in and to vote in AGMs. ~~They should be allowed to vote in person or in absentia. In this regard, companies are encouraged to at general meetings of shareholders. Companies should~~ make the appropriate provisions in their Articles of Association (or other constitutive documents) to allow for absentia voting ~~methods such as by mail, email, fax, etc, if the at general meetings of shareholders so consent.~~

~~15.216.2~~ There should be separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate issue. Companies should avoid "bundling" resolutions unless the resolutions are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. ~~Where resolutions are "bundled", companies should explain the reasons and material implications.~~

~~15.3~~ ~~The chairpersons of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration committees~~~~16.3~~ All directors should attend general meetings of shareholders. In particular, the Chairman of the Board and the respective Chairman of the AC, NC and RC should be present and available to address ~~questions at general shareholders' queries at these~~ meetings. The external auditors should also be present to address shareholders' queries about the conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the auditors' report.

Commentaries:

~~15.4~~ ~~Companies are encouraged to amend their Articles of Association to avoid imposing a limit on the number of proxies for nominee companies so that shareholders who hold shares through nominees can attend AGMs as proxies.~~

~~15.5~~ ~~Companies are encouraged to~~~~16.4~~ Companies should prepare minutes ~~or notes~~ of general meetings, ~~which that~~ include substantial and relevant comments or queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting, and responses from the Board and management ~~Management~~, and to make these minutes ~~or notes~~ available to shareholders upon their ~~requests~~ request.

16.5 Companies should put all resolutions to vote by poll and make an announcement of the detailed results showing the number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages. Companies are encouraged to employ electronic polling.

ADDITIONAL PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES OF THE AUTHORITY

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Principle:

1817 The Board should ensure that the Financial Institution's related party transactions^{9a} ~~with the Financial Institution~~ are undertaken on an arm's length basis.

Guidelines:

a.17.1 ~~The Financial Institution should establish policies and procedures on related party transactions, which include the definitions of relatedness, limits applied, terms of transactions, and the authorities and procedures for approving, monitoring, and, where necessary, writing off of these transactions. Material transactions should be disclosed in the annual reports of the Financial Institution.~~

~~b. The Board should ensure that established control processes are not overridden to accommodate the Financial Institution's related parties⁴ and individuals. The AC should review all material related party transactions and keep the Board informed of such transactions.~~

e.17.2 18.3—Related party transactions should be monitored with particular care, and appropriate steps taken to control or mitigate the risks of related party lending. The terms and conditions of such credit transactions should not be more favourable than credit granted transactions conducted with ~~to~~ non-related obligors parties under similar circumstances.

17.3 Transactions with related parties and the write-off of related-party exposures exceeding specified amounts or otherwise posing special risks should be subject to prior approval by the Board. Board members with conflicts of interest should be excluded from the approval process of granting and managing related party transactions.

17.4 The AC should review all material related party transactions and keep the Board informed of such transactions, and the findings and conclusions from the

^{9a} “Related party transaction” means a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. Related party transactions include transactions with related parties and director and director-related entities. “Related party”, in relation to a Financial Institution, means any of its associates or subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiary of its holding company.

⁴~~“Related party”, in relation to a Financial Institution, means any of its associates or subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiary of its holding company.~~

review. Material transactions should be disclosed in the Annual Reports of the Financial Institution.

GLOSSARY

The following terms, unless the context requires otherwise, have the following meanings:

<u>Term</u>	<u>Meaning</u>
<u>"AC"</u>	<u>: Audit Committee</u>
<u>"AC Chairman"</u>	<u>: Chairman of the AC</u>
<u>"Board"</u>	<u>: The board of directors of the company</u>
<u>"CEO"</u>	<u>: Chief executive officer or equivalent</u>
<u>"CFO"</u>	<u>: Chief financial officer or equivalent</u>
<u>"CRO"</u>	<u>: Chief risk officer or equivalent</u>
<u>"Chairman"</u>	<u>: Chairman of the Board</u>
<u>"Companies Act"</u>	<u>: Companies Act (Chapter 50 of the statutes of Singapore)</u>
<u>"directly associated"</u>	<u>: A director will be considered "directly associated" to a 10% shareholder when the director is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the 10% shareholder in relation to the corporate affairs of the corporation. A director will not be considered "directly associated" to a 10% shareholder by reason only of his appointment having been proposed by that 10% shareholder</u>
<u>"immediate family"</u>	<u>: As currently defined in the Listing Manual, to mean the person's spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent</u>
<u>"key management personnel"</u>	<u>: The CEO and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company. "Senior</u>

		<u>management” has the same meaning as “key management personnel”.</u>
<u>"Listing Manual"</u>	:	<u>The listing manual of the Singapore Exchange</u>
<u>"Management"</u>	:	<u>The management of the company</u>
<u>"NC"</u>	:	<u>Nominating Committee</u>
<u>"NC Chairman"</u>	:	<u>Chairman of the NC</u>
<u>"principal commitments"</u>	:	<u>Includes all commitments which involve significant time commitment such as full-time occupation, consultancy work, committee work, non-listed company board representations and directorships and involvement in non-profit organisations. Where a director sits on the boards of non-active related corporations, those appointments should not normally be considered principal commitments</u>
<u>"related corporation"</u>	:	<u>In relation to the company, as currently defined in the Companies Act, to mean a corporation that is the company's holding company, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary</u>
<u>"RC"</u>	:	<u>Remuneration Committee</u>
<u>"RC Chairman"</u>	:	<u>Chairman of the RC</u>
<u>"10% shareholder"</u>	:	<u>A person who has an interest or interests in one or more voting shares in the company; and the total votes attached to that share, or those shares, is not less than 10% of the total votes attached to all the voting shares in the company. "Voting shares" exclude treasury shares</u>

Reference to any gender includes reference to any other gender, unless the context otherwise requires.

DISCLOSURE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

The ~~Singapore Exchange Listing Rules require Manual requires~~ listed companies to describe in ~~the their company's Annual Reports annual reports~~ their corporate governance practices with specific reference to the principles of the Code, as well as disclose and explain any deviation from any guideline of the Code. Companies ~~are also encouraged to should~~ make a positive confirmation at the start of the corporate governance section of the ~~company's Annual Report annual report~~ that they have adhered to the principles and guidelines of the Code, or specify each area of non-compliance. Many of these guidelines are recommendations for companies to disclose their corporate governance arrangements. For ease of reference, the specific principles and guidelines in the Code ~~for with express~~ disclosure ~~requirements~~ are set out below:

- | | |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| ● Delegation of authority, by the Board to any Board Guideline Committee board committee , to make decisions on certain board matters | Guideline 1.3 |
| ● The number of board meetings of the Board and board committee meetings committees held in the year, as well as the attendance of every board member at these meetings | Guideline 1.4 |
| ● The type of material transactions that require board approval under internal guidelines | Guideline 1.5 |
| ● <u>The induction, orientation and training provided to new and existing directors</u> | <u>Guideline 1.6</u> |
| ● The type of <u>An assessment of how these programmes meet the requirements as set out by continuous professional development programme established for directors and how the programme incorporates the types of skills which</u> the NC to equip assesses that the Board and the respective Board board Committees committees should have <u>with relevant knowledge and skills</u> in order to perform their roles effectively | Guideline 1.6 <u>16</u> |
| ● Where the company <u>The Board should identify in the company's Annual Report each director it considers to be independent. Where the Board</u> considers a director to be independent in spite of the existence of a relationship as stated | Guideline 2.2 <u>2.3</u> |

in the Code that would otherwise deem ~~him as non-a director not to be~~ independent, the nature of the director's² relationship and the ~~reason-reasons~~ for considering him as independent should be disclosed

- | | |
|---|--|
| ● Relationship between the Chairman and CEO where they are related to each other⁶ | Guideline 3.1 |
| ● Composition of nominating committee Where the Board considers an independent director, who has served on the Board for more than nine years from the date of his first appointment, to be independent, the reasons for considering him as independent should be disclosed. | Guideline 4.1
2.4 |
| ● <i>Names of the members of the EXCO and the key terms of reference of the EXCO, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.</i> | <i>Guideline 2.13</i> |
| ● Process for Relationship between the selection Chairman and appointment of new directors to the board CEO where they are immediate family members | Guideline 3.1
4.5 |
| ● Key information regarding directors, which directors are executive, non-executive or considered by the nominating committee to be independent Names of the members of the NC and the key terms of reference of the NC, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board | Guideline 4.1
4.6 |
| ● Process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each individual director to the effectiveness of the Board The maximum number of listed company board representations which directors may hold should be disclosed | Guideline 4.4
5.1 |
| ● Clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, procedure for setting remuneration and link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives and performance Process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of new directors to the Board, including the search and nomination process | Guideline 4.6
9 |

⁶ ~~As defined in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange to mean the spouse, child, adopted child, stepchild brother, sister and parent.~~

● <u>Composition of remuneration committee—Key information regarding directors, including which directors are executive, non-executive or considered by the NC to be independent</u>	Guideline 9.1 4.7
● <i>Deviation and explanation for the deviation from the internal guidelines on time commitment referred to in Guidelines 4.4 and 4.10</i>	Guideline 4.1415
● <u>Names—The Board should state in the company's Annual Report how assessment of the Board, its board committees and remuneration of each director. The disclosure of remuneration should be in bands of S\$250,000. There will be a breakdown (in percentage terms) of each director's remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, and stock options granted and other long term incentives. each director has been conducted. If an external facilitator has been used, the Board should disclose in the company's Annual Report whether the external facilitator has any other connection with the company or any of its directors. This assessment process should be disclosed in the company's Annual Report</u>	Guideline 5.1 9.2
● <u>Names of the members of the RC and remuneration of at least the top 5 key executives (who are not also directors). The disclosure should be in bands of S\$250,000 and include a breakdown of remuneration. the key terms of reference of the RC, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board</u>	Guideline 9.2 7.1
● <u>Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO and whose Names and firms of the remuneration exceed S\$150,000 during the year. The disclosure should be made in bands of \$250,000 and include a breakdown of remuneration. consultants (if any) should be disclosed in the annual remuneration report, including a statement on whether the remuneration consultants have any relationships with the company</u>	Guideline 9.3 7.3
● <u>Details of employee share schemes Clear disclosure of remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, and procedure for setting remuneration</u>	Guideline 9.4 Principle 9

- | | |
|--|---------------------------------------|
| <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● <u>Composition of audit committee and details of the committee's activities</u> <u>Remuneration of directors, the CEO and at least the top five key management personnel (who are not also directors or the CEO) of the company. The annual remuneration report should include the aggregate amount of any termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to directors, the CEO and the top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO)</u> | Guideline 9.1
11.8 |
| <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● <u>Fully disclose the remuneration of each individual director and the CEO on a named basis. There will be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each director's and the CEO's remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, stock options granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives</u> | Guideline 9.2 |
| <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● <u>Name and disclose the remuneration of at least the top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO) in bands of S\$250,000. There will be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each key management personnel's remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, stock options granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives. In addition, the company should disclose in aggregate the total remuneration paid to the top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO). As best practice, companies are also encouraged to fully disclose the remuneration of the said top five key management personnel</u> | Guideline 9.3 |
| <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● <u>Details of the remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO, and whose remuneration exceeds S\$50,000 during the year. This will be done on a named basis with clear indication of the employee's relationship with the relevant director or the CEO. Disclosure of remuneration should be in incremental bands of S\$50,000</u> | Guideline 9.4 |
| <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● <u>Details and important terms of employee share schemes</u> | Guideline 9.5 |
| <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● <u>For greater transparency, companies should disclose more</u> | Guideline 9.6 |

<u>information on the link between remuneration paid to the executive directors and key management personnel, and performance. The annual remuneration report should set out a description of performance conditions to which entitlement to short-term and long-term incentive schemes are subject, an explanation on why such performance conditions were chosen, and a statement of whether such performance conditions are met</u>	
● <u>Adequacy of</u> The Board <u>should comment on the adequacy and effectiveness of the</u> internal controls, including financial, operational and, compliance <u>and information technology</u> controls, and risk management systems <u>The commentary should include information needed by stakeholders to make an informed assessment of the company's internal control and risk management systems</u> <u>The Board should also comment on whether it has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO: (a) that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give true and fair view of the company's operations and finances; and (b) regarding the effectiveness of the company's risk management and internal control systems</u>	Guideline <u>12.211.3</u>
● <i>Resignation or dismissal of the CRO</i> ● <u>Names of the members of the board risk committee and the key terms of reference of the board risk committee, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.</u> Composition of Risk Management Committee and details of the committee's activities	Guideline <u>17.311.8</u> Guideline <u>17.611.14</u>
● Board's comments, made in consultation with the Risk Management Committee where established, on the adequacy of the risk management processes of the Financial Institution	Guideline <u>17.6</u>
● <u>Names of the members of the AC and the key terms of reference of the AC, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board</u>	Guideline <u>12.1</u>
● <u>Aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors for that</u>	Guideline <u>12.6</u>

<u>financial year, and breakdown of fees paid in total for audit and non-audit services respectively, or an appropriate negative statement</u>	
● <u>The existence of a whistle-blowing policy should be disclosed in the company's Annual Report</u>	Guideline 12.7
● <u>Summary of the AC's activities and measures taken to keep abreast of changes to accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements</u>	Guideline 12.8
● <i>Resignation or dismissal of the head of <u>the</u> internal audit function</i>	<i>Guideline 13.9</i> 14
● <u>The steps the Board has taken to solicit and understand the views of the shareholders e.g. through analyst briefings, investor roadshows or Investors' Day briefings</u>	Guideline 15.4
● <u>Where dividends are not paid, companies should disclose their reasons.</u>	Guideline 15.5
● <i>Composition of executive committee, and details of the committee's activities</i>	<i>Guideline 16.4</i>
● <i>Material related party transactions</i>	<i>Guideline 18.1</i> 17.4

Annex 3

- (I) FSF PRINCIPLES FOR SOUND COMPENSATION PRACTICES**
- (II) FSB PRINCIPLES FOR SOUND COMPENSATION PRACTICES
- IMPLEMENTATION STANDARDS**

(I) FSF Principles for Sound Compensation Practices

2 April 2009

FSF Principles for Sound Compensation Practices

Table of Contents

Introduction.....	1
I. Principles.....	2
1. Effective governance of compensation	2
2. Effective alignment of compensation with prudent risk taking	2
3. Effective supervisory oversight and engagement by stakeholders	3
II. Commentary on the principles	4
Annex	
Members of the FSF Compensation Workstream.....	15

Introduction¹

Compensation practices at large financial institutions are one factor among many that contributed to the financial crisis that began in 2007. High short-term profits led to generous bonus payments to employees without adequate regard to the longer-term risks they imposed on their firms. These perverse incentives amplified the excessive risk-taking that severely threatened the global financial system and left firms with fewer resources to absorb losses as risks materialised. The lack of attention to risk also contributed to the large, in some cases extreme absolute level of compensation in the industry.

These deficiencies call for official action to ensure that compensation practices in the financial industry are sound. While national authorities may continue to consider short-term measures to constrain compensation at institutions that receive government assistance, it is essential that steps also be taken immediately to make compensation systems as a whole sound going forward.

To date, most governing bodies (henceforth “board of directors”) of financial firms have viewed compensation systems as being largely unrelated to risk management and risk governance. This must change. While voluntary action is desirable, it is unlikely to effectively and durably deliver change given competitive pressures and first-mover disadvantage. The global supervisory and regulatory infrastructure is an appropriate vehicle for making sound compensation practices widespread.

The FSF Principles for Sound Compensation Practices are intended to apply to significant financial institutions, but they are especially critical for large, systemically important firms. They will be implemented by firms and will be reinforced through supervisory examination and intervention at the national level. Authorities, working through the FSF, will ensure coordination and consistency of approaches across jurisdictions.

The Principles are intended to reduce incentives towards excessive risk taking that may arise from the structure of compensation schemes. They are *not* intended to prescribe particular designs or levels of individual compensation. One size does not fit all – financial firms differ in goals, activities and culture, as do jobs within a firm. However, any compensation system must work in concert with other management tools in pursuit of prudent risk taking.

¹ In April 2008, the Financial Stability Forum (FSF) recommended that “regulators and supervisors work with market participants to mitigate the risks arising from remuneration policies.” The FSF formed a Compensation Workstream Group in late 2008 with a mandate to draft sound practice principles for large financial institutions.

I. Principles

The FSF Principles for Sound Compensation Practices aim to ensure effective governance of compensation, alignment of compensation with prudent risk taking and effective supervisory oversight and stakeholder engagement in compensation. The benefits of sound compensation practices will be achieved only if there is determined and coordinated action by national regulators, facilitated if necessary by suitable legislative powers and supported by national governments.

1. Effective governance of compensation

The board of directors of major financial firms should exercise good stewardship of their firms' compensation practices and ensure that compensation works in harmony with other practices to implement balanced risk postures. The Principles need to become ingrained over time into the culture of the entire organisation.

1. **The firm's board of directors must actively oversee the compensation system's design and operation.** The compensation system should not be primarily controlled by the chief executive officer and management team. Relevant board members and employees must have independence and expertise in risk management and compensation.
2. **The firm's board of directors must monitor and review the compensation system to ensure the system operates as intended.** The compensation system should include controls. The practical operation of the system should be regularly reviewed for compliance with design policies and procedures. Compensation outcomes, risk measurements, and risk outcomes should be regularly reviewed for consistency with intentions.
3. **Staff engaged in financial and risk control must be independent, have appropriate authority, and be compensated in a manner that is independent of the business areas they oversee and commensurate with their key role in the firm.** Effective independence and appropriate authority of such staff are necessary to preserve the integrity of financial and risk management's influence on incentive compensation.

2. Effective alignment of compensation with prudent risk taking

An employee's compensation should take account of the risks that the employee takes on behalf of the firm. Compensation should take into consideration prospective risks and risk outcomes that are already realised.

4. **Compensation must be adjusted for all types of risk.** Two employees who generate the same short-run profit but take different amounts of risk on behalf of their firm should not be treated the same by the compensation system. In general, both quantitative measures and human judgment should play a role in determining risk adjustments. Risk adjustments should account for all types of risk, including difficult-to-measure risks such as liquidity risk, reputation risk and cost of capital.

5. **Compensation outcomes must be symmetric with risk outcomes.** Compensation systems should link the size of the bonus pool to the overall performance of the firm. Employees' incentive payments should be linked to the contribution of the individual and business to such performance. Bonuses should diminish or disappear in the event of poor firm, divisional or business unit performance.
6. **Compensation payout schedules must be sensitive to the time horizon of risks.** Profits and losses of different activities of a financial firm are realized over different periods of time. Variable compensation payments should be deferred accordingly. Payments should not be finalized over short periods where risks are realized over long periods. Management should question payouts for income that cannot be realized or whose likelihood of realisation remains uncertain at the time of payout.
7. **The mix of cash, equity and other forms of compensation must be consistent with risk alignment.** The mix will vary depending on the employee's position and role. The firm should be able to explain the rationale for its mix.

3. Effective supervisory oversight and engagement by stakeholders

Firms should demonstrate to the satisfaction of their regulators and other stakeholders that their compensation policies are sound. As with other aspects of risk management and governance, supervisors should take rigorous action when deficiencies are discovered.

8. **Supervisory review of compensation practices must be rigorous and sustained, and deficiencies must be addressed promptly with supervisory action.** Supervisors should include compensation practices in their risk assessment of firms, and firms should work constructively with supervisors to ensure their practices conform with the Principles. Regulations and supervisory practices will naturally differ across jurisdictions and potentially among authorities within a country. Nevertheless, all supervisors should strive for effective review and intervention. National authorities, working through the FSF, will ensure even application across domestic financial institutions and jurisdictions.
9. **Firms must disclose clear, comprehensive and timely information about their compensation practices to facilitate constructive engagement by all stakeholders.** Stakeholders need to be able to evaluate the quality of support for the firm's strategy and risk posture. Appropriate disclosure related to risk management and other control systems will enable a firm's counterparties to make informed decisions about their business relations with the firm. Supervisors should have access to all information they need to evaluate the conformance of practice to the Principles.

II. Commentary on the principles

This section sets out why changes in compensation policies are needed and why the issues are important for supervisory authorities. It discusses the Principles in more detail and further sets out further comment on the Principles.

Change is necessary

During the course of its work, the Workstream Group reviewed relevant reports and analyses by other bodies and experts, engaged in discussions with experts from the financial industry, the public sector and academia, and investigated industry practice by conducting a global survey of practice at major financial firms. It also reviewed the results of surveys commissioned by others.²

Multiple surveys find that over 80 percent of market participants believe that compensation practices played a role in promoting the accumulation of risks that led to the current crisis. Experts agree. Few if any observers and respondents believe that compensation was the sole cause of the crisis, nor do they believe that changes limited to compensation practice will be enough to limit the chance of future systemic crises. However, absent such changes, other reforms are likely to be less effective.

Market participants are pessimistic about the effectiveness of change unless it is industry-wide and global. Major financial institutions compete for talent in a global labour market. Some firms have already moved to change their practices and may temporarily feel safe in doing so because of the impact of the crisis on the labour market. However, in the longer run, such firms will be forced to conform to broad industry practice by labour market pressures. Moreover, firms have many competing priorities. Changing compensation practice will be challenging, time-consuming, and will involve material costs. Therefore, in the absence of sustained external pressure, firms may fail to carry through on originally good intentions. Although some market participants are wary of regulatory pressure, many believe that a widespread change in practice can be achieved only with the help of supervisory and regulatory agencies, which should coordinate at the global level.

Compensation is an incentive system, not simply a market wage

Major financial institutions are too large to be managed solely by the direct knowledge and action of senior executives. Consequently, systems, such as accounting systems, budgets, position limits, capital allocations, risk management and control systems and, importantly, compensation systems are designed to encourage employees to accomplish the goals set by senior management and the firm's governing bodies. Systems inform senior management and the firm's governing bodies ("board of directors") of the position and activities of the organisation. They help management set employee incentives in order to steer the organisation in pursuit of profit and other goals while staying within the risk appetite set by

² See, for instance, the FSF report on *Enhancing Market and Institutional Resilience* (April 2008), the IIF report on *Principles of Conduct and Best Practice Recommendations* (July 2008), the G30 report on *Financial Reform. A Framework for Financial Stability* (January 2009) and various initiatives at the national level.

the board of directors. Labour market pressures influence compensation systems, but the systems also influence how the market for financial talent operates.

Too little attention to links between compensation and risk

As a practical matter, most financial institutions have viewed compensation systems as being unrelated to risk management and risk governance. Compensation systems have been designed to incentivise employees to work hard in pursuit of profit and to attract and retain talented employees. Risk management systems have been designed to inform senior management about risk postures and to be an element of risk controls.

In principle, if risk management and control systems were strong and highly effective, the risk-taking incentives provided by compensation systems would not matter because risk would stay within the firm's appetite. In practice, all risk management and control systems have limitations and, as the current crisis has shown, they can fail to properly control risks. The incentives provided by compensation can be extremely powerful. Without attention to the risk implications of the compensation system, risk management and control systems can be overwhelmed, evaded, or captured by risk-takers.

Until recently, financial supervisory and regulatory authorities also have not focused on the implications for risk of compensation systems. Front-line supervisory personnel have long understood that compensation based solely on revenue or volume can lead to unbalanced risk postures. However, supervisory strategy has focused on risk control systems. A few decades ago this was a workable approach for most financial institutions. Most risk was in the traditional loan book and most firms were able to control front-line incentives towards excessive risk by having strong and separate credit underwriting and monitoring departments. In recent years, however, risk has become more multidimensional and complex and the array of means of taking risk has grown large. A simple one-dimensional balance between front-line and risk management personnel is no longer sufficient. Greater balance within the compensation system itself will reduce the burden on risk management systems and increase the likelihood that they are effective.

Such balance is not inconsistent with pursuit of profit and need not require a change in the firm's strategy or goals. Indeed, the current crisis has revealed that many firms took actions that were inconsistent with their own goals and internally determined risk appetite.³ Priority must be given to the link between risk and compensation.

³ In principle, there is a danger that compensation systems could become too inflexible or oversensitive to risk. In practice, a swing towards excessive risk-sensitivity is unlikely. Boards of directors are well aware of the need for effective incentives, and senior supervisory and regulatory agencies around the world are well aware of the need for the financial industry to remain dynamic and profitable. Thus, implementation of the Principles is unlikely to lead to compensation systems that are imbalanced in the sense of placing too much weight on risk.

Principles 1–3: Effective governance of compensation

Rationale

Effective governance is a necessary precondition for compensation systems to be sound, though other practices are required as well. Financial firms that adopt a view that the compensation system interacts materially with other aspects of risk governance are likely to comply with the other principles as well. In contrast, firms that are not attentive to the governance of compensation may in reaction to supervisory pressure adopt policies and procedures that appear to be in compliance, but substance is likely to be lacking.

To date, most boards of directors have viewed compensation systems as being largely unrelated to risk management and risk governance. Compensation committees of boards have been attentive to the compensation of the most senior executives. Decisions about the compensation of all other employees have been delegated to the firm’s senior management. Often, formal responsibility for design and operation of the firm’s compensation system has been the duty of human resources departments. However, such departments tend to have little real power. Variable compensation (“bonus”) has been substantially influenced by the results of negotiations between senior management and the heads of business units and by the levels of compensation offered by competitors. Risk typically was not among the primary influences on the outcomes of such negotiations.

More about the governance principles

The firm’s board of directors should be responsible for the compensation system’s design and operation. Boards must pay serious, sustained attention to the design *and* to the operation of compensation practices for the whole firm, not just the most senior executives.⁴ Complete delegation of compensation system operation to senior executives is risky because they are subject to many pressures, especially during economic booms. Without sustained board attention, the operation of well-designed compensation systems may change in ways that are inconsistent with the spirit of the system design.

To achieve effective governance of compensation systems, substantial expertise on the part of the most-involved board members will be required. Such individuals must be independent, non-executive directors. Because sensitivity of compensation to risk will be essential, the most-involved board members will find themselves mediating disputes about details of risk measurement. They must have enough risk-measurement expertise to grasp the essence of the problems. They must also have enough sense of the history of risk realizations to mediate disputes about how compensation should change during periods of high losses.⁵

Activities that are conceptually similar to those already used for accounting and risk management systems are likely to be helpful in supporting good governance of compensation

⁴ Non-executive directors hold particular responsibility for ensuring that executive incentive compensation arrangements are sound. For financial institutions with dual boards, the Supervisory Board must take responsibility for all compensation arrangements, not just senior executive compensation arrangements.

⁵ Boards may wish to obtain independent audits of the adequacy of risk management systems and controls as well as of compensation system operation. However, such audits are not a substitute for the presence of some board members who themselves have expertise.

systems. At lower levels of the organization, ***the compensation system should be monitored and reviewed to ensure that it operates as intended.*** A good design is not sufficient – the system must also function well. It cannot do so without controls, just as an accounting system is unreliable without controls.

Each firm should conduct regular reviews that identify material deviations of compensation outcomes from the intent of its compensation system. Such reviews should detect not only departures from rules, but also unreasonable or undesirable outcomes that flow from unavoidable system weaknesses, such as imprecise risk measures. It is important that such reviews touch all levels of the organisation. Large numbers of lower-level employees with inappropriate incentives can take actions that are individually insignificant but that, taken together, can harm the firm.

Staff engaged in financial and risk control should be compensated in a manner that is independent of the business areas they oversee and commensurate with their key role in the firm. Moreover, compensation of back-office and risk-control employees should not be influenced by personnel in front-line business areas. Such employees must play a continuing role in the operation of the compensation system. For example, risk measures and risk judgments play a key role in risk-adjustment of compensation, as does the long-term accuracy of measures of profit-and-loss. Back-office and risk control employees play a key role in ensuring the integrity of such measures. If their own compensation is importantly affected by short-term measures, their independence will be compromised. If their compensation is too low, the quality of such employees may be insufficient to their tasks and their authority may be undermined.

As a practical matter, the compensation system often includes its own accounting system for profit-and-loss (so called “management P&L”), with rules for the treatment of revenue and expense that differ across business units and that depart from accounting standards for financial statements. Performance goals and hurdles are often set in terms of this parallel accounting system’s measures. Because the measures influence compensation, three aspects of the quality of the measures deserve particular attention from governing bodies to ensure that compensation is not distorted: The inclusion of all costs, the quality and independence of valuations, and avoiding giving current-year credit for expected future-year revenue. For some activities, such as spot foreign exchange trading involving no end-of-day positions, risks are intraday and marginal daily cash profit is directly measurable using independently obtained market prices. However, overhead costs are hard to allocate, especially the value of the firm’s creditworthiness and use of liquidity resources. It may also be the case that a business strategy generating measurable daily results possesses embedded risks that only emerge every few years, under unusual stress conditions. For many other activities, profit is difficult to measure and firms rely upon a mark-to-model process for valuation. Exotic products and positions are an example. Some of these impose a long tail of risk on the firm in the form of model assumptions which cannot be validated and whose failure only becomes apparent in future years. Market prices may not exist and employees managing the business may influence the models that provide mark-to-model valuations. Moreover, the expected future revenues of model valued products are sometimes present-valued irrespective of the likelihood of receipt and considered as profit for the current year when employee performance is evaluated. The result is strong incentives to transact these products in order to

maximize current year compensation while the residual risks are borne by shareholders in future years.

Measures produced for financial statements have their own drawbacks, and senior management must be able to engineer features of the performance measurement accounting system to encourage some kinds of activity and discourage others. Thus, bespoke performance measurement systems should not be eliminated. But governing bodies must ensure that controls and adjustments are such that compensation is appropriately related to economic profit and risk.

Principles 4-7: Effective alignment of compensation with prudent risk taking

Rationale

Two complementary approaches exist for aligning compensation with risk-taking incentives. One, the focus of Principle 4, adjusts for risk that the employee or business unit imposes on the firm but that is not yet realized. Imagine two employees whose activity generates the same short-run profit for the firm. One is a trader who ends each day with no positions and thus who exposes the firm to losses only during the trading day. Another is an originator of long-term, on-balance-sheet assets that provide substantial fees at origination but that expose the firm to substantial risk of loss over the life of the asset. Many compensation systems would tend to reward the two employees similarly, other things being equal, because there would be no “risk charge” applied to the short-term profits generated by the second employee.

Though the need for risk adjustment may seem obvious, material risk-adjustment of variable compensation grants was not widespread in the industry through 2008.⁶

The focus of the second approach and of Principles 5, 6 and 7 are practices that make compensation appropriately sensitive to risk outcomes. Such sensitivity also is not yet widespread. These Principles complement the risk adjustment approach because available risk measures, both quantitative and judgmental, have limitations. Sole reliance on them is likely to leave loopholes that would encourage taking poorly measured risk. If compensation is sensitive to outcomes, exploiting the loopholes becomes less attractive. However, bad outcomes of some risk positions are infrequent but large, so a purely outcome-based system would encourage the taking of tail risks, especially by employees with a relatively short expected remaining tenure of employment.

⁶ At least in some jurisdictions, major banks moved towards risk-adjustment of compensation in the mid-1990s. The reasons why such efforts were abandoned are not entirely clear, but one commonly cited reason is the limitations of risk measures. In large complex organizations, implementation of risk adjusted compensation is likely to involve some use of quantitative risk measures, but such measures are often not comparable across products and business units and are known to have other weaknesses. Each business unit criticizes not only the risk measures applied to its activities but also those applied in other units, making it difficult to achieve consensus about how to move forward with implementation of risk measures in compensation systems. Putting a good face on such internal debates, perhaps the perfect became the enemy of the good.

A compensation system that employs both approaches is more robust but still imperfect if it is purely mechanical. For example, many tail risks are hard to measure, so both risk adjustment and outcome-based approaches may fail to fully align compensation with the risk. Governing bodies must use intuition and common sense in looking for compensation outcomes that are not sensitive enough to risk. Boards and executive management should also be sensitive to the danger signal inherent in businesses where it is very difficult to develop appropriately risk-aligned compensation. If the firm cannot assess the employee's performance in a business, the firm is probably unable to fully assess this business's risks, and may wish to limit its exposure to the business.

More about the risk alignment principles

Perhaps the greatest barriers to progress towards the principle that *compensation must be adjusted for risk* are:

- Determining and implementing the proper mix of executive judgment and quantitative risk measures. Though quantitative risk measures have limitations, this does not imply that quantitative measures should not be used nor that risk cannot be judged.⁷ Well-governed firms make risk decisions at multiple levels and budget risk-taking across business units. Quantitative risk measures provide support for such decisions but substantial amounts of judgment are used as well. Just as judgment is required in managing the firm's risk posture, significant amounts of judgment will be an element of any system for risk-adjusting compensation. Perhaps because risk adjustment has been uncommon, the nature of best practice in combining judgment and quantitative measures in risk-adjusting compensation has not yet become clear.
- The difficulty of incorporating types of risk for which measurement is at early stages, such as liquidity or reputation risk. This difficulty is not a reason to ignore such risks.
- The difficulty of safeguarding the fairness of risk adjustments.
- The danger that quantitative measures will be distorted by self-interested employees trying to unduly influence the measurement process.

One of the greatest challenges to achieving sound compensation practice, for both financial firms and supervisors, is that the particulars of the way towards risk-adjusted compensation are not always clear, and yet the details of how compensation is earned are essential to sound practice. Over the medium term, the industry must experiment. Two visions of possible ways forward emerged from discussions with experts and market participants.

One vision is of a system that relies almost entirely upon judgment: Although the overall firm-wide amount of the bonus pool in a given year might be driven largely by firm-wide profit, senior executives would allocate the pool to business units or even individual employees quite far down in the organisational structure. In doing so, the executives might make themselves aware of quantitative measures of risk, but decisions would not be driven by such measures in any mechanical or reproducible way. The strength of the approach is that

⁷ For example, even for a single type of risk, such as credit risk, several types of measures that cannot be mechanically aggregated may be needed to assess the risk of a position. And for some important risks, such as those associated with liquidity or reputation, existing quantitative measures are crude at best.

it cannot be gamed by influencing quantitative measures and the risk adjustments are likely to be fairly good if the overall risk management system of the firm is good. The weaknesses of the approach are that it places a large operational burden on senior executives and that it lacks objectivity and transparency and is therefore difficult to audit. There is also the likelihood that a considerable proportion of internal management and senior staff time will be devoted to securing good outcomes for individuals and teams via internal political processes.

A second approach would make somewhat heavier use of quantitative measures in allocating the firm-wide variable pay pool to business units. For example, economic capital allocations might be used, with judgmental adjustments for known weaknesses of the allocations. Managers of the business units would then use substantial judgment in risk-adjusting the variable pay of individuals, producing written descriptions of their rationale. A strength of this approach is that it is more transparent and auditable and it uses the knowledge of mid-level managers. Weaknesses include the possibility that business units will try to influence economic capital measures to their own advantage and that, over time, the firm will underweight risks that the economic capital system captures poorly.

The two visions are only examples. Firms are likely to differ in the approaches they use and ways forward will emerge that are not yet apparent. The fact that the ways forward are not yet well understood is not a rationale for inaction.

Any robust compensation system is likely to take advantage of the signals arising from the firm's risk management infrastructure. Poor business unit results for internal audit, compliance, or risk management, for example, should reduce payments to the staff and managers of that business unit.

Risk adjustment of variable pay for the most senior executives presents a special challenge. They are responsible for the entire firm's risk posture and performance. However, quantitative risk measures of firm-wide risk are especially difficult to produce and to deconstruct into the contribution of each member of the executive team. Thus, the compensation committee of the board of directors, which should determine the compensation of senior executives, must use judgment in adjusting for risk. They should pay particular attention to the quality of operation of the firm's risk management and risk-adjusted compensation systems, as well as other determinants of risk.

Three principles focus on making compensation sensitive to risk outcomes: ***compensation outcomes must be symmetric with risk outcomes; compensation payout schedules must be sensitive to the time horizon of risks; and the mix of cash, equity and other forms of compensation should be consistent with risk alignment.*** They are motivated by the fact that, as a practical matter, the industry's efforts to achieve such sensitivity have not been effective in containing risk-taking incentives.

Theoretical treatments of how to motivate employees to act in the interests of the firm's shareholders emphasise various forms of stock-based compensation. Many financial firms paid a significant portion of total compensation in stock or similar instruments, with the stock-based portion typically greater the higher the level of the employee. Vesting and other restrictions required employees to hold some newly granted stock for significant periods of time. Although stock ownership exposed employees to losses in event of poor firm performance, many market participants and experts believe that this was not sufficient to offset risk-taking incentives. Three reasons are commonly cited. First, performance targets

and other features of compensation systems encourage employees to focus on “getting the stock.” Downside risk that might be realized later is not as relevant to an employee who receives only a small grant of stock. Second, below the level of the executive suite, most employees view the performance of the firm as a whole as being almost independent of their own actions. Actions by other employees or business units are seen as determining the firm’s fate. Similarly, stock performance might be driven by various exogenous factors. Thus, employees heavily discount the value of the stock and act to bring the cash component of bonus up. Third, many market participants view equity prices as being over-sensitive to short-term performance of the firm on both the upside and the downside and view shareholders as having a focus on short-term results. Psychologically, this pushed employees toward a focus on short-term performance.

Thus, when implementing the principle that ***the mix of cash, equity and other forms of compensation should be consistent with risk alignment***, it is not obvious that more equity and less cash always increases the employee’s incentive to align risk with the firm’s appetite. The mix is likely to differ across employees and to involve a smaller cash component the more senior the employee. Some evidence implies that traditionally structured options, which are out-of-the-money when granted, are inferior to ordinary equity because the asymmetric payoff properties of options offer incentives to take too much risk.⁸ However, options that are in-the-money when granted might have different properties in that they would be similar to ordinary equity in terms of upside payout but, like a clawback, would reduce compensation in event of poor firm performance. The goal should be a mix of cash, ordinary equity, and appropriately structured options that generates a closer match between executive incentives and the long term stewardship of the firm than in the past.

Variable compensation for senior executives is probably more risk-aligned when a relatively small fraction is paid in cash and most is deferred. Compensation for more junior and transactionally oriented staff should also rely upon appropriate deferral, but a larger share could prudently be paid in cash once the relevant validation period is cleared.

Recent practice has not been consistent with the principle that ***compensation outcomes must be symmetric with risk outcomes*** because the bonus component of compensation has been much more variable upward in response to good performance than downward in response to poor performance, especially poor firm-wide performance. In years of losses by the firm as a whole, most employees’ bonuses at most firms have continued at a significant portion of boom-year levels. In other words, the size of firms’ bonus pools showed much more inertia than did economic performance. Firms justified this mainly by arguments that employees need incentives to work effectively even in bad years, that many employees and business units perform well even in bad years for the firm, and that employees will move to another firm if bonuses fall far below recent levels. Individual employees and business units receive small or no bonus only if their performance is poor relative to competitors or if their line of business generates very large losses.

⁸ See for instance Chen, Steiner and Whyte (2006), *Does stock option-based executive compensation induce risk-taking? An analysis of the banking industry*, Journal of Banking and Finance 30; Sanders and Hambrick (2007), *Swinging for the fences: the effects of CEO stock options on company risk taking and performance*, Academy of Management Journal 50; and Jensen and Murphy (2004), *Remuneration: where we’ve been, how we got to here, what are the problems, and how to fix them*, ECGI working paper.

It might appear that such practice simply implies part of the bonus is more like a fixed salary, so that the variable component of compensation is smaller than it appears, perhaps reducing incentives to take risk. However, the effect on incentives is more perverse. Because weak relative performance may be punished, and taking more risk, especially tail risk, is a way to boost short-run performance, the asymmetry of bonus practice encourages taking of excessive risk.⁹ It also reduces the incentive to draw attention to excessive risk taking by others, since the sensitivity of the employee's compensation to losses caused by others is reduced. Moreover, during booms, bonus amounts ratchet up each year as a result of both benign conditions and increased risk-taking, unlike fixed salaries.

The obvious ways forward are to make bonus grants much more sensitive to poor performance of the firm or business unit, or to make grants a smaller portion of total compensation. Such changes might have a price in terms of specific business unit incentives to work hard or employee retention, so the size of such changes is not clear, but some change is required.¹⁰

Recent practice has also been inconsistent with the principle that ***compensation payout schedules must be sensitive to the time horizon of risks***. In addition to making *new* bonus grants sensitive to risk outcomes, which is the focus of the symmetry principle, grants from any given year should typically be sensitive to risk outcomes over a multi-year horizon. Otherwise employees will have an incentive to expose the firm to risks that are unlikely to be realized for some time, especially in cases where risk adjustments are known to the employee to be inadequate.

One way to align time horizons is to place a portion, and in some cases up to the entirety, of any given year's bonus grant, both cash and equity, into the equivalent of an escrow account. All or part of the grant is reversed if the firm as a whole performs poorly or if the exposures the employee caused the firm to assume in the year for which the bonus was granted perform poorly (a "clawback"). Departure of the employee from the firm should not trigger early payout (hence, for example, many past "golden parachute" arrangements did not conform to this principle).

Commonly used vesting provisions for stock grants do not achieve the same result because the employee forfeits unvested stock only upon leaving the firm. Thus, long-term risks imposed on the firm by employee actions are reflected in compensation only through declines in the value of stock or by dismissing the employee.

Design features of systems that make payouts sensitive to the time horizon of risk include the relative weight given to firm and employee performance, the time horizon of payout, and the rate of clawback per unit of poor performance. Both the horizon and the rate are likely to

⁹ Risk adjustment may reduce the perversity of the incentives, but only if the tail risks the employee or business unit takes are measured well.

¹⁰ Maintaining bonus payments from current revenue is not necessarily the only way to provide incentives. One possibility would be to grant bonuses in the form of claims on future-year bonus pools, with the claims exposed to clawbacks as described below. In the event a firm with losses recovers and its franchise proves valuable, such claims would eventually convert into wealth for the employee. This is only an example – there may be other ways to achieve similar ends.

differ for firm and employee performance and to differ across employees because different employees expose the firm to risks of different duration.

Unlike bonus grants, considerations of legal enforceability may require that clawback systems be driven by observable and verifiable measures of risk outcomes. Moreover, such provisions have not been common practice and in some jurisdictions may be legally difficult to implement. An exception is violations of policy by the employee, such as violations of risk management or control policies, fraud, or other malfeasance. Such employee actions are grounds for dismissal-for-cause in most jurisdictions and thus should be a basis for clawbacks.

“Golden handshake” payments that reimburse unvested compensation foregone at the employee’s predecessor firm are a difficult problem. If employees are routinely compensated by a new employer for accumulated unvested bonuses, or for vested bonuses still subject to clawback, in a manner that removes the employee’s exposure to risks imposed on the old employer, the incentive effects of the Principles will be reduced.¹¹ Similarly, multi-year guaranteed bonuses are not in line with the principle.

Similarly, “golden parachute” arrangements that generate large payouts to terminated staff that are not sensitive to performance or risk are prudentially unsound. Such arrangements create a “heads I win, tails I still win” approach to risk, which encourages more risk taking than would likely be preferred by the firm’s shareholders or creditors.

Principles 8–9: Effective supervisory oversight and engagement by stakeholders

Rationale

As noted previously, supervisory oversight is not only required for collective action to occur, but is likely to be required in the long run to offset countervailing pressures. Such oversight will be ineffective if it becomes routine or inattentive.

Similarly, governance is more likely to be effective if the firm’s stakeholders, particularly shareholders, are engaged with compensation. In order for them to be engaged, they must be informed. They can only be informed if the firm discloses relevant information. Giving shareholders an explicit voice may also be helpful.¹²

Some countries require disclosure of the level of compensation paid to top executives. However, disclosure of remuneration policies and structures, particularly as they affect other levels of an organization, has generally been poor. In the future, all the stakeholders of financial firms, including supervisors, shareholders, and (where firms are systematically

¹¹ One possible approach might involve giving the new employee deferred compensation in the form of deferred shares in the new firm, on terms similar to those that would have applied at the old firm. Such a practice would have to be widely adopted to be effective. Or sign on bonuses might only cover vested bonuses at the previous employer that are not at risk.

¹² For example, each year shareholders might vote on a nonbinding resolution to approve compensation. In cases where the resolution is not approved, the firm would be expected to consult, make material changes, and provide explanations why proposed compensation is aligned with shareholders’ interests.

important) governments, will expect to receive more information about compensation policies and to increase their engagement with them.

More about the supervisory oversight and stakeholder engagement principles

Supervisory review of compensation practices should be rigorous and sustained and deficiencies should be addressed promptly with supervisory action. Supervisory assessments of a firm's compensation policies against sound practice should be included in the supervisor's overall assessment of a firm's soundness. Any shortcomings in compensation arrangements should be brought to the attention of the firm's management and board. Often such communications have more impact if delivered by very senior supervisors.

When a supervisor discovers any practice which appears to be contributing to material weakness in a firm's soundness, direct intervention may be necessary to remedy the situation. Particularly when the totality of a firm's compensation practices are less than sound, supervisors should first exercise suasion on the affected firm, and in the absence of necessary improvement should consider escalation to firmer intervention, which may include increased capital requirements.

National supervisory authorities must move cooperatively towards implementation of the Principles. Two avenues of cooperation are likely to be necessary. First, all would benefit from a better understanding of the range of current practice and from work that reveals ways toward improvement. Such understanding can only be achieved by reviews and other work that cuts across borders. Second, regulations and supervisory practices must be such that their impact is consistent across nations. Achieving this is not mechanical because legal constraints, supervisory infrastructure, and other aspects differ across nations. Thus, supervisors must work together to develop guidance and procedures to achieve common impact, not only in the early, developmental stage, but also in the long run, and consistent with other supervisory matters.

Supervisors should be alert for regulatory arbitrage activity within as well as across borders. For example, a shift of exposures or activity to a unit using risk measures or compensation practices that are less well-suited than those in the former unit should trigger supervisory attention.

Apart from supervisors, other stakeholders such as shareholders, counterparties, depositors, auditors and analysts also have an interest in the firm's compensation policy in order to independently assess the firm's continued financial health and stability.

Hence, ***firms should disclose clear, comprehensive and timely information about their compensation practices to facilitate constructive engagement by all stakeholders.*** The shape of sound disclosure is likely to change over time and to remain fluid for some years because practice is likely to evolve. Nonetheless, the necessary information should cover all the elements of the Principles and extend well beyond the details of the compensation of a handful of senior executives. Among the relevant information is the general design philosophy of the system and the manner of its implementation, a sufficiently detailed description of the manner of risk adjustment and of how compensation is related to actual performance over time, information about compensation outcomes for employees at different levels or in different units sufficient to allow stakeholders to evaluate whether the system operates as designed, and summaries of results of internal and external audits.

Members of the FSF Compensation Workstream

This report has been developed by a sub-group of the FSF. Its members are listed below.

Chair	Philipp Hildebrand Vice Chairman Swiss National Bank
Australia	Charles Littrell Executive General Manager Australian Prudential Regulation Authority
Canada	Julie Dickson Superintendent Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
France	Jérôme Haas Directeur Adjoint Ministère de l'Economie, des Finances et de l'Emploi
Germany	Hermann Remsperger Member of the Executive Board Deutsche Bundesbank
Netherlands	Maarten Hage Head, Accountancy, Organisation and Integrity Netherlands Bank
Singapore	TEO Swee Lian Deputy Managing Director, Prudential Supervision Monetary Authority of Singapore
Switzerland	Daniel Heller Director Swiss National Bank
United Kingdom	Thomas F. Huertas Director, Banking Sector Financial Services Authority

FINANCIAL STABILITY FORUM

United States

Mark S. Carey
Adviser, International Finance
Federal Reserve Board

Clinton Lively
Vice President, Bank Supervision
Federal Reserve Bank of New York

BCBS

William Coen
Deputy Secretary General

IOSCO

Greg Tanzer
Secretary General

OECD

Mats Isaksson
Head, Corporate Affairs Division

FSF

Svein Andresen
Secretary General

Marina Moretti
Member of the Secretariat

(II) FSB Principles for Sound Compensation Practices

Implementation Standards

25 September 2009

FSB Principles for Sound Compensation Practices

Implementation Standards

Compensation at significant financial institutions is one factor among many that contributed to the financial crisis that began in 2007. Official action to address unsound compensation systems must therefore be embedded in the broader financial regulatory reform program, built around a substantially stronger and more resilient global capital and liquidity framework. Action in all major financial centres must be speedy, determined and coherent. Urgency is particularly important to prevent a return to the compensation practices that contributed to the crisis.

This report responds to the call by the G20 Finance Ministers and Governors to submit to the Pittsburgh Summit detailed specific proposals on corporate governance reforms, global standards on pay structure and greater disclosure and transparency, to strengthen adherence to the FSB Principles for Sound Compensation Practices, issued in April 2009.

The standards set out in this report focus on areas in which especially rapid progress is needed. They do not fully cover all aspects of the FSB Principles but prioritise areas that should be addressed by firms and supervisors to achieve effective global implementation of the Principles. Firms and supervisors should ensure the process of implementation is begun immediately and pursued rigorously in their respective jurisdictions.

Given the commitment to ensure a level playing field, these implementation standards must be rigorously and consistently implemented by significant financial institutions throughout the world.

The FSB will periodically review actions taken by firms and by national authorities to implement the FSB Principles and these standards and assess the extent to which implementation has occurred and has had the intended effects. It will propose additional measures as required no later than March 2010.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, the International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS) and the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) should undertake all necessary measures to support and address prompt implementation of these standards.

The aim of these standards is to enhance the stability and robustness of the financial system. They are not to be used as a pretext to prevent or impede market entry or market access.

Governance

1. Significant financial institutions should have a board remuneration committee as an integral part of their governance structure and organisation to oversee the compensation system's design and operation on behalf of the board of directors. The remuneration committee should:
 - be constituted in a way that enables it to exercise competent and independent judgment on compensation policies and practices and the incentives created for managing risk, capital and liquidity. In addition, it should carefully evaluate practices by which compensation is paid for potential future revenues whose timing and likelihood remain uncertain. In so doing, it should demonstrate that its decisions are consistent with an assessment of the firm's financial condition and future prospects;
 - to that end, work closely with the firm's risk committee in the evaluation of the incentives created by the compensation system;
 - ensure that the firm's compensation policy is in compliance with the FSB Principles and standards as well as complementary guidance by the Basel Committee, IAIS and IOSCO, and the respective rules by national supervisory authorities; and
 - ensure that an annual compensation review, if appropriate externally commissioned, is conducted independently of management and submitted to the relevant national supervisory authorities or disclosed publicly. Such a review should assess compliance with the FSB Principles and standards or applicable standards promulgated by national supervisors.
2. For employees in the risk and compliance function:
 - remuneration should be determined independently of other business areas and be adequate to attract qualified and experienced staff;
 - performance measures should be based principally on the achievement of the objectives of their functions.

Compensation and capital

3. Significant financial institutions should ensure that total variable compensation does not limit their ability to strengthen their capital base. The extent to which capital needs to be built up should be a function of a firm's current capital position. National supervisors should limit variable compensation as a percentage of total net revenues when it is inconsistent with the maintenance of a sound capital base.

Pay structure and risk alignment

4. For significant financial institutions, the size of the variable compensation pool and its allocation within the firm should take into account the full range of current and potential risks, and in particular:
 - the cost and quantity of capital required to support the risks taken;
 - the cost and quantity of the liquidity risk assumed in the conduct of business; and
 - consistency with the timing and likelihood of potential future revenues incorporated into current earnings.
5. Subdued or negative financial performance of the firm should generally lead to a considerable contraction of the firm's total variable compensation, taking into account both current compensation and reductions in payouts of amounts previously earned, including through malus or clawback arrangements.
6. For senior executives as well as other employees whose actions have a material impact on the risk exposure of the firm:
 - a substantial proportion of compensation should be variable and paid on the basis of individual, business-unit and firm-wide measures that adequately measure performance;
 - a substantial portion of variable compensation, such as 40 to 60 percent, should be payable under deferral arrangements over a period of years; and
 - these proportions should increase significantly along with the level of seniority and/or responsibility. For the most senior management and the most highly paid employees, the percentage of variable compensation that is deferred should be substantially higher, for instance above 60 percent.
7. The deferral period described above should not be less than three years, provided that the period is correctly aligned with the nature of the business, its risks and the activities of the employee in question. Compensation payable under deferral arrangements should generally vest no faster than on a pro rata basis.
8. A substantial proportion, such as more than 50 percent, of variable compensation should be awarded in shares or share-linked instruments (or, where appropriate, other non-cash instruments), as long as these instruments create incentives aligned with long-term value creation and the time horizons of risk. Awards in shares or share-linked instruments should be subject to an appropriate share retention policy.
9. The remaining portion of the deferred compensation can be paid as cash compensation vesting gradually. In the event of negative contributions of the firm and/or the relevant line of business in any year during the vesting period, any unvested portions are to be clawed back, subject to the realised performance of the firm and the business line.

10. In the event of exceptional government intervention to stabilise or rescue the firm:
 - supervisors should have the ability to restructure compensation in a manner aligned with sound risk management and long-term growth; and
 - compensation structures of the most highly compensated employees should be subject to independent review and approval.
11. Guaranteed bonuses are not consistent with sound risk management or the pay-for-performance principle and should not be a part of prospective compensation plans. Exceptional minimum bonuses should only occur in the context of hiring new staff and be limited to the first year.
12. Existing contractual payments related to a termination of employment should be re-examined, and kept in place only if there is a clear basis for concluding that they are aligned with long-term value creation and prudent risk-taking; prospectively, any such payments should be related to performance achieved over time and designed in a way that does not reward failure.
13. Significant financial institutions should take the steps necessary to ensure immediate, prospective compliance with the FSB compensation standards and relevant supervisory measures.
14. Significant financial institutions should demand from their employees that they commit themselves not to use personal hedging strategies or compensation- and liability-related insurance to undermine the risk alignment effects embedded in their compensation arrangements. To this end, firms should, where necessary, establish appropriate compliance arrangements.

Disclosure

15. An annual report on compensation should be disclosed to the public on a timely basis. In addition to any national requirements, it should include the following information:
 - the decision-making process used to determine the firm-wide compensation policy, including the composition and the mandate of the remuneration committee;
 - the most important design characteristics of the compensation system, including criteria used for performance measurement and risk adjustment, the linkage between pay and performance, deferral policy and vesting criteria, and the parameters used for allocating cash versus other forms of compensation;
 - aggregate quantitative information on compensation, broken down by senior executive officers and by employees whose actions have a material impact on the risk exposure of the firm, indicating:
 - amounts of remuneration for the financial year, split into fixed and variable compensation, and number of beneficiaries;

- amounts and form of variable compensation, split into cash, shares and share-linked instruments and other;
- amounts of outstanding deferred compensation, split into vested and unvested;
- the amounts of deferred compensation awarded during the financial year, paid out and reduced through performance adjustments;
- new sign-on and severance payments made during the financial year, and number of beneficiaries of such payments; and
- the amounts of severance payments awarded during the financial year, number of beneficiaries, and highest such award to a single person.

Supervisory oversight

16. Supervisors should ensure the effective implementation of the FSB Principles and standards in their respective jurisdiction.
17. In particular, they should require significant financial institutions to demonstrate that the incentives provided by compensation systems take into appropriate consideration risk, capital, liquidity and the likelihood and timeliness of earnings.
18. Failure by the firm to implement sound compensation policies and practices that are in line with these standards should result in prompt remedial action and, if necessary, appropriate corrective measures to offset any additional risk that may result from non-compliance or partial compliance, such as provided for under national supervisory frameworks or Pillar 2 of the Basel II capital framework.
19. Supervisors need to coordinate internationally to ensure that these standards are implemented consistently across jurisdictions.



Monetary Authority of Singapore